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DEAR SHAREHOLDER,

I would like to tell you a story,

the story of a dream,

that became a reality,

which is now shaping our vision

of the future.

I would like to start

by telling you

about our dream.



THE DREAM

CHAPTER

I



-  THE DREAM -

IN 1999, China was still not part of the WTO, Beijing had not been awarded

the 2008 Summer Olympics and much of the economy was either very tightly controlled

or lacking in clear regulations, particularly the financial markets. These issues were often

viewed at the time as insurmountable obstacles to starting a business in China. We instead

viewed them as unprecedented opportunities for helping China set standards that did not

yet exist in its financial markets.

From the beginning, we recognized that China requires the same basic information

infrastructure that exists in more mature financial markets.  Without exception, major

capital markets around the world rely on three primary financial information services:

financial news, market indices, and credit ratings.  Investors depend on these services to

make well-informed decisions.  We knew that as China’s financial markets continue to

open and mature, these fundamental services would become more and more critical.  This

information infrastructure was what we set out to create for China.

We wanted to build these services based on internationally proven standards and localize

them for China’s markets.  We were committed to creating the standards that others would

follow, providing China with tools that domestic investors could depend on, and providing

foreign investors with the services they are used to in their home markets.  Xinhua Finance

would be the trusted source for these services in China.

With that concept in mind, we approached Xinhua News Agency.  Xinhua News Agency

is the official news agency of China and I had previously worked with them on various

projects.  Xinhua News Agency believed as we did that China’s financial markets would be

opening soon and would need products and services that would encourage transparency

and disclosure to foster the evolution.  In support of the creation of these services for

China, they agreed to sign a twenty-plus-ten year exclusive agreement with a non-compete

for the formation of Xinhua Finance. At the heart of the plan was a belief in the importance

of helping to bring transparency and disclosure to the China markets.

- page 3 -
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For China in the late 1990’s, this business model represented a truly unprecedented

idea. Of course, many people thought I was crazy.  But, because I knew that China needed

the infrastructure, I had faith that this dream could be realized - and in November of 1999,

Xinhua Finance was born.

During the early years, we looked at the international marketplace and decided to

partner with the companies who could bring the best international standards, methodology

and technology to the products and services we wanted to create for China. We sought out

companies who were best in their field and run by entrepreneurial individuals who shared

the same passion and ambition as we did for China and its future.

-  THE DREAM -

Xinhua Finance in 1999

Our esteemed partners in the early days



- page 5 -

We offered our products to global financial institutions that were keen on investing in

China.  They could use our indices to monitor how the markets moved each day, our news

to understand what events were moving the markets, and our ratings to analyze specific

companies or industry sectors.  Soon, our clients let us know that they also wanted to hear

what companies had to say for themselves.  To meet their requirements, we launched our

investor relations service line, which includes corporate announcement distribution and

professional investor and public relations services.

By early 2003, we had established our four core service lines.  Investors could count on

one or all of our services to make better investment decisions in China.  We also found as

we began cross-selling between service lines that each of our services created demand for

the others.  Our company was not only the pioneer in bringing these services to China, but

also the first in the world to incorporate all of these services under one roof.

During 2003 and 2004, China’s regulatory structure continued to evolve and the markets

became more and more sophisticated.  Both domestic and foreign investors were coming to

rely more on our services to identify business and investment opportunities in China.  We

were the first-mover in our service lines and the leader of our markets, but we were always

aware that competition could be just around the corner.  We continued to enhance our portfolio

of services to stay ahead.  As our company matured, we developed the resources to acquire

companies based on strategic fit. We acquired companies that provide new opportunities for

our products and services either due to significant client demand or to regulatory changes in

China. We made sure that we brought the right expertise into China and also that we owned

100% of the China products developed with any new partner.  The acquisitions also allowed

us to sell our products to a wider client base worldwide.  With our expanded overseas network,

we had truly become a China-focused company with global capabilities.

-  THE DREAM -

Four core and complementary service lines of Xinhua Finance
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OVER the past six years, we have built our unique suite of products, always working

to improve the synergies, performance and market position of all companies and

partners within each service line.  The visibility of Xinhua Finance and our products was

further raised through our successful listing on the Tokyo Stock Exchange in late 2004.

Xinhua Finance was the first China concept company to go public in Japan and also the

first foreign company with a primary listing in the Japan market.  We chose Japan because

it is the world’s second largest capital market and Japanese investors have a very clear

understanding and appreciation of investment opportunities in China. Our successful IPO

helped us begin the year 2005 with a strong equity and cash position.  We were well-funded

to face the challenges and opportunities of 2005, and made good use of those funds.  Let us

now look at what we accomplished in 2005.

-  I N D I C E S  -

In our Indices service line, we continued to build our position as the preferred China

index provider both domestically and abroad. We stayed close to investors as well as the

markets, so that we could respond quickly with unique and customized index products.

The launch of the Xinhua FTSE Insurance Investment Index in September 2005 was a

good example.  This index was the first and only index in the market designed to meet new

regulatory requirements for Chinese insurance companies investing directly in the A share

market.  Our index was quickly adopted by China Life, the largest life insurance company

in China, for both benchmark and tracking purposes.

It is exciting to see how our indices have continued to be a standard for the China

markets.  A total of twelve new domestic funds adopted our indices in 2005, including China

Asset Management and China Nature Asset Management.  Approximately US$2.7 billion in

China-based funds and US$5.5 billion in international funds are currently tracking our

China indices.

- THE REALITY -
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- THE REALITY -

-  R AT I N G S  -

Our Ratings services are now well recognized in the markets.  Four years ago, we started

by rating the companies in the Xinhua/ FTSE China 25 Index.  Now, we monitor and rate

over 110 Chinese listed companies on a regular basis and issue over 1,000 loan certificate

ratings each year.  In 2005, we also consulted on 30 commercial paper ratings.  Moreover,

we were the first company to assign a rating to a money market fund in China through our

rating of the Prudential Everbright Money Market Fund in April 2005.  To give our clients

a clearer view of industry sectors in China, we launched our China sector reports business,

issuing reports covering China’s oil and gas, petrochemicals and brokerage industries.  Our

brokerage sector report received international recognition and was quoted widely in

international media, including the Asian Wall Street Journal, Financial Times, International

Herald Tribune and Bloomberg TV.

We are proud to be at the forefront of change as regulations continue to develop to

meet the requirements of China’s growing economy.  We have built a credible ratings

business that is well prepared for the gradual opening of China’s corporate bond market.

The managing director of our ratings service line continues to be the only industry

representative from China in the Best Practices Committee of the Association of Credit

Ratings Agencies in Asia (ACRAA).

-  N E W S  -

We began our News service line back in 2000 with equity news.  Today, we have

expanded our news coverage to include fixed income, foreign exchange, and in-depth

analysis on government policy and its influence on markets, industry sectors and individual

companies.  In 2005, we introduced several new China-specific products that we developed

either because we saw a market opportunity, or because our clients expressed a need for

them.  Our quarterly China Business Sentiment Survey, China Reality Check and Daily

China News Briefings services launched in 2005 gave clients worldwide a closer view of

China’s financial and commercial markets.  We also added depth to our existing

government policy analysis arm by acquiring an award-winning US-based economic and

political advisory firm.

We continued to beat our news competitors in speed to market throughout the year.

An outstanding example was our government policy analysis team predicted the renminbi

revaluation in April, three months before it happened.  When the news broke out in July,

our forex team was the first to market with the story.  Today, we span the globe with 21

news bureaus, including over 60 journalists in our China bureaus.
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- THE REALITY -

-  I N V E S T O R  R E L A T I O N S  -

We enhanced our Investor Relations service line significantly in 2005 by acquiring a

global investor relations and financial communications firm. Its global IR expertise

complements our existing China investor and public relations services.  Chinese companies

looking to the international markets and companies interested in entering the China market

can all benefit from our local and global expertise.  Our corporate announcement

distribution network continues to grow, with the number of media points expanding from

4,000 to 5,000 in 2005.  The service continued to grow year on year, and the number of IR

clients increased by 85% during the year with a client retention rate of 75%.  We also

launched a new service, XPRN Investor Wire, in 2005 based on the combined strengths of

two of our business units, Xinhua PR Newswire and Taylor Rafferty.  This service allows

Chinese companies to reach the right investors around the world through the Taylor

Rafferty’s global investor database, developed over the past 20 years.

While steadily building its own business in China, our IR service line has always been

committed to educating the market on the importance of information disclosure and

corporate governance.  We continue to hold seminars and workshops for Chinese corporate

executives, and have launched an information exchange and networking service bringing

together key executives from Chinese corporations, investors, reporters, analysts,

government officials and stock exchange representatives.

All in all, fiscal 2005 was a landmark year for Xinhua Finance, both financially and

operationally. The financial performance validated our business model - we achieved

profitability and we are proud to have surpassed our full year revenue and EBITDA targets

to deliver net income significantly ahead of expectations. We have seamlessly integrated our

recent acquisitions into the Group, and they are already strengthening our product portfolio

and contributing to bottom-line profit.
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- THE REALITY -

IN the six years since we first launched Xinhua Finance, we have been working towards

the realization of our dream.  We understand that doing business in China is in many

ways different from in the West, but we also believe that there is much in China that is

worth learning, and that the future is a melding of China and the world.

We have always valued our government relationships and have been adept at

structuring environments where our business is advantaged. We have many such

relationships. Our partnership with Xinhua News Agency was a key element in the

founding of our business. In our index business, the first Chairman of the China Securities

Regulatory Commission (CSRC) is now the Chairman of our Index Committee. We have

partnered with the Academy of Social Sciences in our Ratings service for over four years.

In 2005, we solidified a significant new relationship with the China Development Research

Foundation of the State Council through a ten-year agreement.  The Foundation, a think

tank and non-profit organization for government policy on China’s economy and the

financial markets, is a shareholder and will have a seat on the Board of Xinhua Finance,

subject to shareholder approval.  This relationship is important for us today and into the

future because the Foundation’s research and analysis touches on the same issues we

address in our products and services.

In 1999, we created Xinhua Finance from a dream.  Today, we have become a

successful and well-managed international corporation with over 1,000 employees

worldwide.  We have great content and the best global clients in the world.  We have

hired and retained some of the brightest minds in the fields.  We have partnered with

the best, and now have the opportunity to acquire the best and integrate them into the

Xinhua Finance team.  We have shown that we are capable of robust business growth

and of making our operations ever more efficient.  Increasing demand from the domestic

and international investment communities prove that we have created a powerful suite

of products and services.

Most importantly, we have established a track record of doing things that no other

company has done before.  We have proven to our shareholders and supporters that we can

implement our business plans.  By continuing to reap the economic benefits of our core

business, I believe we are well-positioned to solidify our role as the undisputed leader in

the China market and to continue to set standards here.

So the platform is in place. I would like to share with you how we plan to build upon it.
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Current business landscape of Xinhua Finance - adding breath and depth to each services line through acquisitions and integration

- THE REALITY -
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IHAVE told you how our dream of yesterday has become the reality of today.  Now let

me tell you what we envision for our future.  We see a new opportunity for Xinhua

Finance that is as significant in scope and scale as our original dream six years ago of setting

the standards for China’s financial markets.

The new opportunity for us is to further elevate our position as the standard for China’s

markets.  In essence, we will leverage our content, brand name and client base to penetrate

further into China through multiple media distribution platforms. We have positioned

ourselves step by step to take advantage of the tremendous market opportunity that is

available to us in this area.

- THE VISION -

New opportunity for Xinhua Finance in the next few years
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- THE VISION -

Let me paint a picture of the future.  Using our strong client base of leading financial

institutions and corporations, we will expand our reach to the growing number of “high

net worth” individuals in China.  Imagine a fund management company that uses Xinhua

Finance indices to create products. Executives working there read Xinhua Finance news

and ratings reports on their workstations, listen to Xinhua Finance information on the

radio, watch Xinhua Finance programs on TV and read Xinhua Finance content in

newspapers and magazines. That level of penetration and connectivity with this

demographic means we are with them whenever they are making investment decisions,

for themselves or for their clients.  Xinhua Finance content as distributed through various

media channels will be interspersed with advertising slots that become of increasing value

to the same fund management company that wants to promote its recent Xinhua Finance

index fund to “high net worth” individuals.  In this way, we gain new revenue from existing

clients with existing content and simultaneously build the visibility and power of the

Xinhua Finance brand.

We have been diligently building a media distribution network upon which to leverage

this content and reach these individuals.  In China, there are an estimated 333 million

households with television sets, daily newspaper circulation is around 82 million, and

radio reaches 1.2 billion people.  As of now, we have access to television programming,

print media, and radio broadcasts, and will continue to build out the deepest distribution

network possible in China through additional channels.

This year, we added program production capabilities by acquiring a television

consulting company that is able to produce programs based on our content.  We also

added the ability to derive advertising revenue from the advertising slots surrounding our

programs by acquiring an agency with the necessary advertising license.  By being involved

at both the production level and the advertising level, we are now able to match content

and advertisements that would appeal to high net worth individuals and therefore provide

a channel of value to our existing and future customers.  Production and advertising are

the two fundamental building blocks of our media strategy, enabling us, on one hand, to

move our content onto various media platforms, and on the other hand to capture

advertising revenue streams from existing content and clients.

Another key element of distribution in China is the network of financial terminals,

estimated to number 400,000. This is a key medium for financial information targeting

sophisticated users in banks, brokerages and fund management firms who need our

information delivered directly to their screens and desktops. Xinhua Finance already has

a 30% market share in the commodities terminal business in China, and we intend to

move into the equities and foreign exchange terminals area in the future.
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- THE VISION -

In the past years, Xinhua Finance has established a global network and presence, an

ability to distribute financial information to users in all of the world's major markets.

The next step is to extend our reach deep into China so that anyone investing in the

China markets will be using at least one if not all of our products.  Through a ubiquitous

presence of Xinhua Finance content across a comprehensive range of media platforms,

Xinhua Finance’s products and services will come to represent the standard for an entire

new generation in China with unprecedented influence and purchasing power.

Xinhua Finance is playing an integral role in setting the direction for the entire China’s

financial information and media industries.  Our success is driven by our ability to conceive

innovative ideas, our courage to implement them and our determination to capitalize on

them. We continue to be a company that dreams differently.

We are presented today with a rare and precious opportunity to make a difference, to

participate directly in the growth of the China markets and the emergence of China as an

important part of the global financial system. We are building shareholder value by seizing

this opportunity. It is an opportunity that belongs uniquely to Xinhua Finance.

We thank you for continuing to be part of the Xinhua Finance story.

With kind regards,

FREDY BUSH

CEO, XINHUA FINANCE LIMITED
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to be c o n t i n u e d . . .
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Corporate Governance

Xinhua Finance is committed to promoting corporate governance, information disclosure

and transparency in the emerging market of China. Internally we make every endeavor to

maintain the highest quality of corporate governance for the interests of shareholders,

employees, as well as the Company as a whole.
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Mr. Wu Jiguang
Chairman and Director

Ms. Fredy Bush
Vice Chairman, Director and CEO

Mr. Jae Lie
Director and President

Dr. Wang Bin
Director and Vice President

Mr. John Williams
Independent Director

Mr. Dennis Pelino
Independent Director

Mr. Shelly Singhal
Independent Director

BOARD OF DIRECTORS 1

The business of the Company is managed and conducted by the Board of Directors. The composition of the board,

the experience of the individual directors and the dynamics of the board of the Group ensure both the Board’s

effectiveness and the inability of an individual or small group to dominate the Board’s decision-making. The Board

has determined that each of the outside directors is independent in character and judgment.  At all times the

performance of the duties of directors, officers and employees of the Company and any committee established by

the Board are monitored and supervised by the Board.

Board Members
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EXECUTIVE OFFICERS 2

The Board then delegates its power to conduct the business of the Company to executive officers, including

the Chief Executive Officer, the Chief Operating Officer and the Chief Financial Officer. The executive officers

have significant authority and responsibility for business execution.

COMMITTEE DELEGATION
The Board is allowed to delegate any of its powers, authorities and discretions to committees, consisting of

directors and other persons as it thinks fit. In order to manage the Company in an efficient manner, the

Company has established a number of committees, including:

AUDIT COMMITTEE 3

The purpose of the Audit Committee is to assist the Board by reviewing (i) quarterly, interim and annual

financial information of the Company; (ii) external and internal audit reports; and (iii) systems of corporate

governance and control which management and the Board have established.

Members

Mr. Shelly Singhal (Chairman of the Committee)

Mr. Dennis Pelino
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Internal Audit 4

The Company’s Internal Audit team consists of one Internal Auditor who reports directly to the Audit

Committee. He sets out his annual audit plan being approved by the CEO prior to year end that covers the

Company’s major entities. When working with management and staff, he aims at maintaining six key

principles being (1) Integrity, (2) Objectivity (3) Accuracy (4) Constructive (5) Courtesy and (6)

Confidentiality. Every time an audit assignment is completed with management’s response, an audit report

will be submitted to the Audit Committee for review and comment.

Independent Auditing 5

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, an outside auditor, has been appointed as the auditor of the Company with

shareholder approval.  The financial statements of the Company are audited by the outside auditor in

accordance with Japan GAAP and IFRS. The outside auditor makes a written report thereon in accordance

with the generally-accepted auditing standards in Japan GAAP and IFRS and the report of the outside

auditor is submitted to the General Shareholders Meeting. The compensation for outside auditors is

determined by shareholders at the General Meeting or in such manner as the shareholders may determine.
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COMPENSATION COMMITTEE 6

The mandate of the Compensation Committee is to assist the Board by reviewing and determining the

compensation to be paid to employees and officers of the Company. The Committee is authorized to do all

things that the Board would otherwise be authorized to do in respect of compensation of officers and

employees of the Company. Full minutes of all meetings of the Compensation Committee are kept and filed

with the Company.

Members

Mr. Dennis Pelino (Chairman of the Committee)

Mr. Shelly Singhal

INVESTMENT COMMITTEE 7

On 17 November, 2005, the Investment Committee was established by the Board of Directors. It has

the authority to review and approve investment transactions proposed by Company’s management valued

in an amount not to exceed, for any particular transaction, up to USD 2,000,000 in cash, stock

or a combination thereof.

Members

Mr. Dennis Pelino

Mr. Shelly Singhal

Ms. Fredy Bush
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EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE 8

The Executive Committee is established to consider various strategic issues affecting the Group as a whole.

The Committee, which is consisted of senior level executives across the Group, is chaired by the COO and

reports to the CEO. It meets quarterly to enable interactive exchange of information, foster cooperation,

facilitate more efficient integration and promote cross-selling among Xinhua Finance’s various global units.

The Executive Committee is a key contributor to the efficient execution of strategies and harmonization of

policies throughout the Group.

Members

Fredy Bush Chief Executive Officer

Jae Lie President

Daniel Connell Chief Operating Officer

Gordon Lau Chief Financial Officer

John McLean General Counsel

Michael Connor President, Financial News &

   CEO of Market News International

Jonathan Worrall CEO of Mergent

Jane Hartley CEO of G7 Group

Andrew Miller Managing Director (Asia)

Bill Schiffli US Group Controller

Zhu Shan Managing Director, Indices

Ivan Chung Managing Director, Ratings

Brian Rafferty Managing Director, IR Service Line &

   Managing Director, Taylor Rafferty

John Williams EVP, Asia, PRN

Graham Earnshaw Managing Director,

   Corporate Communications

Jiong Sun Managing Director, Investor Relations

Michael Balaban Managing Director, Global Integration

Joseph Chan Managing Director, Business Development
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Management

A dedicated team of accomplished professionals that grasps the

intricacies of the financial landscape and has proven experience

in structuring East-West business relationships.
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Executive Committee Members

Back Row
(from left to right)

Michael Connor
Joseph Chan
Jiong Sun
Brian Rafferty
Andrew Miller
Bill Schiffli
Jane Hartley
Michael Balaban
Graham Earnshaw

Front Row
(from left to right)

John McLean
Daniel Connell
Gordon Lau
Fredy Bush
Jae Lie
Ivan Chung
Zhu Shan

* The executive committee members
Mr. Jonathan Worrall (CEO of
Mergent) and Mr. John Williams
(EVP, Asia, PRN) were not present
at the photo shooting.
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS UNDER JAPAN GAAP
(Generally Accepted Accounting Principles in Japan)

Table 1 Fiscal Year Ended Fiscal Year Ended Fiscal Year Ended
December 31, 2005 December 31, 2004 December 31, 2003*

US$’000 JP¥’000 US$’000 JP¥’000 US$’000 JP¥’000

FOR THE YEAR

Turnover 110,010 12,988,885 59,689 7,047,476 16,148 1,906,594

EBITDA** 18,787 2,218,226 4,230 499,424 (932) (110,041)

Operating income (loss) 3,472 409,893 (4,134) (488,114) (1,453) (171,544)

Ordinary income (loss) 523 61,801 (9,100) (1,074,437) (4,367) (515,580)

Net income (loss) (2,814) (332,299) (9,305) (1,098,684) (4,353) (514,001)

AT YEAR END

Total Assets 368,817 43,546,177 201,927 23,841,573 33,750 3,984,896

Shareholders’ Equity 279,442 32,993,684 149,102 17,604,505 27,997 3,305,648

US$ JP¥ US$ JP¥ US$ JP¥

PER SHARE

Net Asset 305.65 36,087.70 239.89 28,323.60 0.11 12.99

Net Income (loss) (4.25) (501.90) (34.65) (4,090.54) (0.08) (9.45)

Financial Highlights
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS UNDER IFRS
We also prepare financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) to meet the needs of global investors.  The

following table sets forth certain line items of our results of operations under IFRS and has been included for reference only.

Table 2 Fiscal Year Ended Fiscal Year Ended Fiscal Year Ended
December 31, 2005 December 31, 2004 December 31, 2003*

US$’000 JP¥’000 US$’000 JP¥’000 US$’000 JP¥’000

FOR THE YEAR

Turnover 110,010 12,988,885 59,690 7,047,598 15,070 1,779,284

EBITDA*** 21,234 2,506,937 4,577 540,419 (878) (103,606)

Gross Profit 62,141 7,336,938 30,002 3,542,314 7,896 932,259

Net income (loss) 10,270 1,212,576 (1,420) (167,637) (1,576) (186,089)

AT YEAR END

Total Assets 384,423 45,388,824 204,988 24,202,960 33,750 3,984,896

Shareholders’ Equity 301,531 35,601,725 152,208 17,971,111 27,997 3,305,648

US$ JP¥ US$ JP¥ US$ JP¥

PER SHARE

Net Asset N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A

Net Income (loss) 15.51 1,815.85 (5.29) (624.59) N/A N/A

* Since the Company was established in January 2004, key financial data of Xinhua Financial Network, Ltd., which became a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company following a share
swap transaction on March 4, 2004, has been provided for reference for fiscal year 2003.

** Defined as operating income or loss plus depreciation, amortization and amortization of goodwill under Japan GAAP.
*** Defined as income or loss before interest, tax, depreciation and amortization under IFRS.
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GRAPHS UNDER JAPAN GAAP AND IFRS
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IMPACT OF SIGNIFICANT DIFFERENCES IN JAPAN GAAP AND IFRS
The table below (Table 3) illustrates the impact of significant differences in Japan GAAP and IFRS pertaining to the financial highlights presented above

and has been provided for reference only.

Table 3 Fiscal Year Ended Fiscal Year Ended Fiscal Year Ended
December 31, 2005 December 31, 2004 December 31, 2003

US$ in millions Japan IFRS Japan IFRS Japan IFRS
GAAP GAAP GAAP

EBITDA* 18.8 21.2 4.2 4.6 (0.9) (0.9)

Non-cash items:

   Intangibles amortization** (5.5) (4.7) (3.6) (3.3) (0.1) (0.1)

   Goodwill amortization (7.9) - (3.6) (0.9) (0.1) (0.1)

   Depreciation (1.9) (1.9) (1.1) (1.1) (0.3) (0.3)

Fund-raising expenses (4.4) - (4.8) - (2.8) -

Other (1.9) (4.3) (0.4) (0.7) (0.2) (0.2)

Net income (loss) for the year (2.8) 10.3 (9.3) (1.4) (4.4) (1.6)

* Please refer to Table 1 and Table 2 for definitions of EBITDA as defined under Japan GAAP and IFRS, respectively.
** “Amortization” under Japan GAAP.



Investor Information
(As of 20 February, 2006)

LARGEST SHAREHOLDERS

Name % of Shares in Issue

Nissin Co., Ltd. 14.85%

Patriarch Partners and Affiliates 8.06%

Fredy Bush Family Trust and associated companies 5.34%

Oppenheimerfunds, Inc 4.19%

Xinhua Development Holdings Ltd.* 3.45%

* Xinhua Development Holdings holds its shares in the Company for and on behalf of
China Media Development Shenzhen Incorporation, a company wholly-owned by
Xinhua News Agency.

NUMBER OF SHARES ISSUED & NUMBER OF SHAREHOLDERS

(1) Total number of authorized shares 2,500,000

(2) Number of shares issued and outstanding 823,078.79

(3) Number of Shareholders 14,342
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(July 22)

DISTRIBUTION OF OWNERSHIP
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Individuals   34%

Overseas
Investors

35%

Senior management
10%

Japanese financial
institutions   2%

Japanese corporations   19%
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Share prices before September 9, 2005 have been adjusted for the 3-for-1 split.
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(TRANSLATION)
INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

March 9, 2006

To the Board of Directors of

Xinhua Finance Limited:

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu-Japan

Representative Partner,

Engagement Partner,

Certified Public Accountant: Yoshitaka Asaeda

Engagement Partner,

Certified Public Accountant: Eiji Yoshida

We have audited the consolidated financial statements, namely, the consolidated balance sheet and the related statements of consolidated income,

appropriations of consolidated retained earnings, and consolidated cash flows, and consolidated supplementary schedules of Xinhua Finance Limited

and consolidated subsidiaries for the fiscal year from January 1, 2005 to December 31, 2005. These consolidated financial statements are the

responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in Japan. Those standards require that we plan and perform the

audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test

basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and

significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit provides a

reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Xinhua Finance

Limited and consolidated subsidiaries as of December 31, 2005, and the consolidated results of their operations and their cash flows for the year then

ended in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in Japan.

Our firm and the engagement partners do not have any financial interest in the Company for which disclosure is required under the provisions of the

Certified Public Accountants Law.

The above represents a translation, for convenience only, of the original report issued in the Japanese language.
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The above represents a translation, for convenience only, of the original report issued in the Japanese language.

(TRANSLATION)
INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

April 11, 2005

To the Board of Directors of

Xinhua Finance Limited:

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu-Japan

Representative Partner,

Engagement Partner,

Certified Public Accountant: Yoshitaka Asaeda

Engagement Partner,

Certified Public Accountant: Eiji Yoshida

We have audited the consolidated financial statements, namely, the consolidated balance sheet and the related statements of consolidated income,

appropriations of consolidated retained earnings, and consolidated cash flows, and consolidated supplementary schedules of Xinhua Finance Limited

and consolidated subsidiaries for the fiscal year from January 1, 2004 to December 31, 2004. These consolidated financial statements are the

responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in Japan. Those standards require that we plan and perform the

audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test

basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and

significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit provides a

reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Xinhua Finance

Limited and consolidated subsidiaries as of December 31, 2004, and the consolidated results of their operations and their cash flows for the year then

ended in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in Japan.

Our firm and the engagement partners do not have any financial interest in the Company for which disclosure is required under the provisions of the

Certified Public Accountants Law.
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

Consolidated fiscal year – current year Consolidated fiscal year – prior year
(As of December 31, 2005) (As of December 31, 2004)

Item Note Amount Amount

US$’000 JAP¥’000 US$’000 JAP¥’000 % US$’000 JAP¥’000 US$’000 JAP¥’000 %

ASSETS

I Current assets

Cash and bank balances ※4 88,118 10,404,071 40,449 4,775,783

Trade receivables ※4, 7 19,048 2,248,946 10,033 1,184,651

Marketable securities 145 17,131 – –

Other receivables 1,467 173,253 698 82,390

Deferred tax assets 571 67,474 299 35,271

Other current assets ※4 7,655 903,792 5,158 609,023

Total current assets 117,004 13,814,668 31.7 56,637 6,687,118 28.0

II Non-current assets

Property and equipment

Buildings and structures 1,546 182,506 530 62,520

Less: accumulated depreciation (639) (75,444) 907 107,062 (244) (28,818) 285 33,702

Equipment ※4 9,323 1,100,743 4,777 563,994

Less: accumulated depreciation ※4 (3,960) (467,521) 5,363 633,223 (1,335) (157,601) 3,442 406,393

Total property and equipment 6,270 740,285 1.7 3,727 440,095 1.8

Intangible assets

Goodwill 2,784 328,738 10,616 1,253,405

Goodwill on consolidation ※8 185,934 21,953,270 116,544 13,760,388

Trade mark and distribution rights ※3 700 82,649 4,064 479,785

Total intangible assets 189,419 22,364,657 51.3 131,224 15,493,577 65.0

Investments and other assets

Securities assets ※4 23,367 2,758,979 10,151 1,198,486

Investment in securities ※4 – – 68 8,016

Investment in associates 223 26,321 – –

Investment in progress ※2 29,000 3,424,030 121 14,280

Deferred tax assets 204 24,089 – –

Other 3,330 393,149 – –

Total investments and other assets 56,124 6,626,568 15.2 10,339 1,220,782 5.2

Total non-current assets 251,813 29,731,509 68.3 145,291 17,154,455 72.0

Total assets 368,817 43,546,177 100.0 201,927 23,841,573 100.0
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS (continued)

Consolidated fiscal year – Consolidated fiscal year –
current year prior year

(As of December 31, 2005) (As of December 31, 2004)

Item Note Amount Amount

US$’000 JAP¥’000 % US$’000 JAP¥’000 %

LIABILITIES

I Current liabilities

Trade payables 2,969 350,599 3,014 355,838

Short-term loans ※4, 9 7,608 898,235 122 14,366

Current portion of long-term debt ※4, 9 21,341 2,519,746 40 4,711

Taxation payables 2,802 330,782 398 47,017

Other payables ※5 17,355 2,049,162 25,842 3,051,125

Accrued expenses 6,779 800,392 2,592 306,056

Deferred revenue 15,576 1,839,083 15,748 1,859,411

Promissory notes (non-operating) ※4, 6 1,250 147,588 350 41,325

Lease obligations ※4 29 3,393 37 4,420

Total current liabilities 75,709 8,938,978 20.4 48,143 5,684,269 23.8

II Non-current liabilities

Long-term debt ※4, 9 16 1,942 48 5,654

Long-term lease obligations ※4 25 2,976 26 3,039

Long-term other payables ※5 10,998 1,298,540 3,494 412,524

Long-term promissory notes (non-operating) ※4, 6 – – 1,250 147,588

Deferred tax liabilities – – 44 5,219

Total non-current liabilities 11,040 1,303,457 3.0 4,862 574,023 2.4

Total liabilities 86,749 10,242,436 23.5 53,005 6,258,292 26.2

MINORITY INTERESTS

Minority interests ※1 2,626 310,056 0.7 (180) (21,224) (0.1)

CAPITAL AND RESERVES

I Share capital 2,091 246,881 0.6 522 61,628 0.3

II Share premium 312,966 36,951,925 84.9 181,543 21,434,839 90.0

III Accumulated deficit (35,485) (4,189,667) (9.6) (32,670) (3,857,368) (16.2)

IV Unrealized loss on available-for-sale securities – – – (151) (17,801) (0.1)

V Foreign currency translation adjustment (131) (15,454) (0.1) (142) (16,793) (0.1)

Total shareholders’ equity 279,442 32,993,684 75.8 149,102 17,604,505 73.9

Total liabilities, minority interests and shareholders’ equity 368,817 43,546,177 100.0 201,927 23,841,573 100.0
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENTS

Consolidated fiscal year – current year Consolidated fiscal year – prior year
(From January 1, 2005 to December 31, 2005) (From January 1, 2004 to December 31, 2004)

Item Note Amount Amount

US$’000 JAP¥’000 US$’000 JAP¥’000 % US$’000 JAP¥’000 US$’000 JAP¥’000 %

I Turnover 110,010 12,988,885 100.0 59,689 7,047,476 100.0

II Cost of sales 45,455 5,366,860 41.3 29,283 3,457,493 49.1

Gross profit 64,555 7,622,025 58.7 30,406 3,589,984 50.9

III Selling, general and administrative expenses

Directors’ emoluments 900 106,263 839 99,115

Salaries 19,544 2,307,536 11,344 1,339,282

Marketing and promotional expenses 4,190 494,658 2,111 249,198

Depreciation 1,937 228,730 1,091 128,797

Amortization 5,467 645,481 3,630 428,557

Amortization of goodwill on consolidation 7,912 934,123 3,643 430,184

Other 21,134 2,495,341 61,084 7,212,132 55.5 11,882 1,402,965 34,540 4,078,097 57.9

Operating income (loss) 3,472 409,893 3.2 (4,134) (488,114) (7.0)

IV Non-operating income

Interest and dividend income 893 105,412 186 21,992

Foreign exchange gains 1,061 125,282 120 14,152

Other 297 35,032 2,251 265,726 2.0 4 471 310 36,615 0.5

V Non-operating expenses

Interest expense 742 87,613 498 58,800

Share issuance related expenses ※1 4,443 524,562 2,757 325,538

Listing related expenses – – 2,021 238,601

Other 14 1,643 5,199 613,818 4.7 – – 5,276 622,939 8.7

Ordinary income (loss) 523 61,801 0.5 (9,100) (1,074,437) (15.2)



Report and Financial Statements under Japan GAAP
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2005

Xi nhua Fi nance Annual Repor t  2005

39

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENTS (continued)

Consolidated fiscal year – current year Consolidated fiscal year – prior year
(From January 1, 2005 to December 31, 2005) (From January 1, 2004 to December 31, 2004)

Item Note Amount Amount

US$’000 JAP¥’000 US$’000 JAP¥’000 % US$’000 JAP¥’000 US$’000 JAP¥’000 %

VI Extraordinary gains

Gain on sales of fixed assets ※4 453 53,538 – –

Gain on relief of debts – – 453 53,538 0.4 4 525 4 526 0.0

VII Extraordinary losses

Loss on sale and disposal of fixed assets ※2 45 5,329 2 201

Loss on sale of securities assets 44 5,224 – –

Loss on impairment ※3 83 9,763 172 20,317 0.2 – – 2 201 0.0

Income (loss) before income taxes,

minority interests and distribution

of profits (allocation of losses)

from joint alliances 805 95,022 0.7 (9,097) (1,074,112) (15.2)

VIII Distribution of profits (allocation of

losses) from joint alliances (287) (33,863) (0.2) (243) (28,634) (0.4)

Income (loss) before income taxes

and minority interests 518 61,159 0.5 (9,340) (1,102,746) (15.6)

Income taxes (current) 3,210 378,985 10 1,129

Reversal of over-accrued tax

for the past year (7) (878) (212) (25,004)

Income taxes (deferred) (260) (30,695) 2,942 347,412 2.7 47 5,582 (155) (18,293) (0.2)

Minority interests 390 46,046 0.4 121 14,230 0.2

Net loss 2,814 332,299 (2.6) 9,305 1,098,684 (15.6)
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CONSOLIDATED SURPLUS STATEMENTS

Consolidated fiscal year – current year Consolidated fiscal year – prior year
(From January 1, 2005 to December 31, 2005) (From January 1, 2004 to December 31, 2004)

Item Note Amount Amount

US$’000 JAP¥’000 US$’000 JAP¥’000 US$’000 JAP¥’000 US$’000 JAP¥’000

SHARE PREMIUM

I Share premium – Beginning balance 181,543 21,434,839 51,174 6,042,160

II Increase of share premium

Stock issuance 99,739 11,776,220 85,202 10,059,851

Share premium increased upon share exchange ※2 – – 46,168 5,451,002

Suspense account of share exchange ※1 27,828 3,285,624 2,604 307,396

Exercise of warrants 4,982 588,248 132,549 15,650,091 – – 133,973 15,818,248

III Decrease of share premium

Suspense account of share exchange ※2 – – 3,604 425,569

Capitalized share premium 1,126 133,005 1,126 133,005 – – 3,604 425,569

IV Share premium – Ending balance 312,966 36,951,925 181,543 21,434,839

ACCUMULATED DEFICIT

I Accumulated deficit – Beginning balance (32,670) (3,857,368) (23,365) (2,758,684)

II Increases in accumulated deficit

Net loss 2,814 332,299 2,814 332,299 9,305 1,098,684 9,305 1,098,684

III Accumulated deficit – Ending balance (35,485) (4,189,667) (32,670) (3,857,368)
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CONSOLIDATED CASHFLOW STATEMENTS

Consolidated fiscal year – Consolidated fiscal year –
current year (From January 1, 2005 prior year (From January 1, 2004

to December 31, 2005) to December 31, 2004)

Amount Amount

US$’000 JAP¥’000 US$’000 JAP¥’000

I Operating activities

Income (loss) before income taxes and minority interests 518 61,159 (9,340) (1,102,746)

Depreciation 1,937 228,730 1,091 128,797

Amortization 5,467 645,481 3,630 428,557

Amortization of goodwill 7,912 934,123 3,643 430,184

Interest and dividend income (893) (105,412) (186) (21,992)

Interest expense 742 87,613 498 58,800

Share issuance related expenses 4,443 524,562 2,757 325,538

Listing related expense – – 2,021 238,601

Foreign exchange (gain) loss 100 11,750 (189) (22,260)

Gain on sale of fixed assets (453) (53,538) (0) (0)

Loss on sale and disposal of fixed assets 45 5,329 2 201

Loss on impairment 83 9,763 – –

Loss on sale of securities assets 44 5,224 – –

Gain on relief of debts – – (4) (525)

Distribution of profits (allocation of losses)

from joint alliances 287 33,863 243 28,634

Assets received for services (11,531) (1,361,422) (6,051) (714,489)

(Increase) Decrease in accounts receivable (6,235) (736,211) (6,800) (802,861)

Increase (Decrease) in accounts payable (44) (5,240) 2,168 255,949

(Increase) Decrease in other current assets (251) (29,628) 3,998 472,089

Increase (Decrease) in other current liabilities (7,529) (888,922) 1,027 121,283

Subtotal (5,359) (632,775) (1,493) (176,243)

Income taxes paid (1,794) (211,850) (422) (49,830)

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities (7,154) (844,625) (1,915) (226,073)
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CONSOLIDATED CASHFLOW STATEMENTS (continued)

Consolidated fiscal year – Consolidated fiscal year –
current year (From January 1, 2005 prior year (From January 1, 2004

to December 31, 2005) to December 31, 2004)

Note Amount Amount

US$’000 JAP¥’000 US$’000 JAP¥’000

II Investing activities

Interest and dividend received 893 105,412 186 21,992

Deposit for security – – (360) (42,505)

Deposit for security released 360 42,505 – –

Purchase of marketable securities (4) (473) – –

Purchase of property and equipment (3,566) (420,989) (1,353) (159,753)

Proceeds from sale of property and equipment 37 4,415  4 417

Proceeds from sale of intangible assets 6,514 769,161 – –

Purchase of securities assets – – (68) (8,016)

Deposits paid for purchase of securities assets (29,000) (3,424,030) – –

Proceeds from sale of securities assets 25 2,916 – –

Payment for asset purchases ※3 – – (3,725) (439,832)

Refund of investments in progress – – 1,694 200,012

Payment to acquire shares of subsidiaries – – (65) (7,675)

Payment to acquire share of subsidiaries resulting in

a change in scope of consolidation ※2 (11,030) (1,302,321) (49,222) (5,811,648)

Subsequent consideration paid (19,528) (2,305,705) – –

Other (133) (15,678) (1,686) (199,062)

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities (55,431) (6,544,786) (54,595) (6,446,069)

III Financing activities

Interest paid (742) (87,613) (498) (58,800)

Increase in deposit pledged (7,448) (879,427) – –

Increase (decrease) in short-term loans – net 6,405 756,276 (997) (117,758)

Increase in long-term debt 22,300 2,632,961 – –

Repayments of long-term debt (133) (15,691) (48) (5,658)

Proceeds from issuance of shares 78,749 9,297,952 79,986 9,443,889

Proceeds from exercise of warrants 5,000 590,350 – –

Repayments of lease obligations (41) (4,831) (55) (6,466)

Decrease in long term other payables (836) (98,689) – –

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 103,255 12,191,289 78,387 9,255,207

IV Foreign currency translation adjustments on (89) (10,511) 69 8,174

cash and cash equivalents

V Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 40,581 4,791,366 21,947 2,591,239

VI Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of the year 40,089 4,733,278 18,142 2,142,039

VII Cash and cash equivalents, end of the year ※1 80,669 9,524,644 40,089 4,733,278
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BASIS OF PRESENTING CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Consolidated fiscal year – current year Consolidated fiscal year – prior year

(From January 1, 2005 to December 31, 2005) (From January 1, 2004 to December 31, 2004)

1. SCOPE OF CONSOLIDATION
(1) The number of consolidated subsidiaries: 22(1) The number of consolidated subsidiaries: 42

The names of consolidated subsidiaries are as follows:

Xinhua Financial Network Ltd.

Market News International, Inc.

Market News Service (International) Inc.

China Financial News Ltd.

Fortune China Public Relations Ltd.

FTSE/Xinhua Index Ltd.

Xinhua Financial Network Inc.

Xinhua Financial Network (Korea) Ltd.

China Finance Limited

(formerly known as China Financial Network Ltd.)

AFX Asia Pte Ltd.

Xinhua Financial Network (Beijing) Ltd.

Xinhua Finance Japan Ltd.

(formerly known as Xinhua Netchina Ltd.)

Xinhua Investment Group Hong Kong Ltd.

Shanghai NetChina Ltd.

Xinhua Financial Network (Shanghai) Ltd.

Mergent, Inc.

Mergent Japan K.K.

Stone & McCarthy Research Associates, Inc.

SMRA International, Inc.

G-7 Group, Inc.

Xinhua Mergent Holdings Limited

Ford Investor Services, Inc.

The names of consolidated subsidiaries are as follows:

Xinhua Financial Network Ltd.

Market News International, Inc.

Market News Service (International) Inc.

China Financial News Ltd.

Fortune China Public Relations Ltd.

FTSE/Xinhua Index Ltd.

Xinhua Financial Network Inc.

Xinhua Financial Network (Korea) Ltd.

China Finance Limited

(formerly known as China Financial Network Ltd.)

AFX Asia Pte Ltd.

Xinhua Financial Network (Beijing) Ltd.

Xinhua Finance Japan Ltd.

(formerly known as Xinhua Netchina Ltd.)

Xinhua Investment Group Hong Kong Ltd.

Shanghai NetChina Ltd.

Xinhua Financial Network (Shanghai) Ltd.

Mergent, Inc.

Mergent Japan K.K.

Stone & McCarthy Research Associates, Inc.

SMRA International, Inc.

G-7 Group, Inc.

Xinhua Mergent Holdings Limited

Ford Investor Services, Inc.

Taylor Rafferty Associates, Inc.

Taylor Rafferty Associates Ltd.

Taylor Rafferty KK

EconWorld Media Ltd.

Financial World (Shanghai) Co., Ltd.

EconWorld (Shanghai) Co., Ltd.

EconWorld Publishing Ltd.

Money Journal Publication Ltd.

Money Journal Advertising Co., Ltd.

Highasia Investments Ltd.

Washington Analysis, LLC

Beijing Century Media Culture Co., Ltd

Beijing Workshop Communications Co., Ltd.

Beijing Golden Ways Culture Development Co., Ltd.

Shanghai Pobo Data and Information Network Consulting Co., Ltd.

Shanghai Huacai Investment Advisory Company Limited

Xinhua Top Sky Public Relations Consulting (Beijing) Co., Ltd.

Tesserae Capital Advisors, LLC

Xinhua Finance Media Limited

Shanghai Far East Credit Rating Co., Ltd.
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Same as on the left.

Reason of status to be unconsolidated

Same as on the left.

BASIS OF PRESENTING CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Consolidated fiscal year – current year Consolidated fiscal year – prior year

(From January 1, 2005 to December 31, 2005) (From January 1, 2004 to December 31, 2004)

(2) Name of unconsolidated subsidiaries and relative information:

Intelligence Asia Pty Ltd.

LJS Global Information Services, Inc.

Mergent Pricing & Evaluation Services, Inc.

Mergent (UK) Ltd.

Reason of status to be unconsolidated

All of the unconsolidated subsidiaries do not have significant

influence on Group’s consolidated financial statements due to its

small magnitude taking into account total assets, revenue, net

income and retained earnings as well as the aggregated amounts

of all unconsolidated subsidiaries.

2. ADOPTION OF EQUITY METHOD
(1) Number of associated company adopted equity method: 1

Name of the associated company:

Ning Bo Far East Credit Rating Co., Ltd.

(1) There is no group company accounted for by the equity method.

Same as on the left.

Reason of status not to be accounted for by the equity method

Same as on the left.

Same as on the left.

NIL

(2) Unconsolidated subsidiaries not accounted for by the equity method:

Intelligence Asia Pty Ltd.

LJS Global Information Services, Inc.

Mergent Pricing & Evaluation Services, Inc.

Mergent (UK) Ltd.

Reason of status not to be accounted for by the equity method

The adoption of the equity method for all of the subsidiaries does

not have any significant influence on Group’s consolidated

financial statements due to its small magnitude taking into

account the net income and retained earnings as well as the

aggregated amounts of all unconsolidated subsidiaries.

3. RECONCILIATION OF CLOSING DATE FOR CONSOLIDATION

There is no consolidated subsidiary whose closing date for the year

is different from that of the Company.
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BASIS OF PRESENTING CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Consolidated fiscal year – current year Consolidated fiscal year – prior year

(From January 1, 2005 to December 31, 2005) (From January 1, 2004 to December 31, 2004)

4. METHOD OF BUSINESS COMBINATION

5. VALUATION FOR ASSETS AND LIABILITIES OF CONSOLIDATED SUBSIDIARIES

NIL

The assets and liabilities of the consolidated subsidiaries for not

only the Company’s interest but also minority interests are

evaluated at fair value.

6. AMORTIZATION OF GOODWILL ON CONSOLIDATION

Goodwill on consolidation is amortized by the straight-line method

over 20 years.

7. APPROPRIATIONS OF RETAINED EARNINGS

All of the shareholders of Xinhua Financial Network Ltd (“XFN”)

exchanged their shares in XFN for equivalent shares in Xinhua

Finance Ltd. (“XFL”) upon which XFL became the 100% parent

company of XFN.

In terms of the business combination, accounting treatment in

accordance with the pooling of interest method is applied based

on “Guidance for business combination for formation of an

ultimate parent company through share exchange or share

transfer” (Research Report #6 announced by Accounting Standard

Committee in Japanese Institute of Certified Public Accountants).

Same as on the left.

Same as on the left.

Appropriations of retained earnings of the Company are reflected

in the consolidated surplus statement of the following year upon

shareholder’s approval.

8. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS IN THE CONSOLIDATED CASHFLOW STATEMENT

Cash equivalents in the consolidated cashflow statement are short-

term investments that are readily convertible into cash and are not

exposed to significant risk of changes in value. Cash equivalents

mature or become due within three months of the date of

investment.

Same as on the left.

Same as on the left.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Consolidated fiscal year – current year Consolidated fiscal year – prior year

(From January 1, 2005 to December 31, 2005) (From January 1, 2004 to December 31, 2004)

1. VALUATION BASIS AND METHOD FOR ASSETS

Securities

(1) Trading securities

– Fair value method (the cost of securities sold is determined

based on the moving-average cost method)

(2) Held-to-maturity securities

– Amortized cost method

(3) Available-for-sale securities

– With market value

Fair value method based on fair value information, such as

market information, at the balance sheet date is applied.

(Unrealized gain or loss is accounted for as an equity item,

and the cost of securities sold is determined based on the

moving-average cost method.)

– With no market value

Cost method based on the moving-average cost method is

applied

Securities

(1) NIL

(2) NIL

(3) Available-for-sale securities

– With market value

Same as on the left.

– With no market value

Same as on the left.

2. DEPRECIATION OR AMORTIZATION METHOD

(1) Property and equipment

Depreciation of property and equipment of the Company and

its consolidated non-Japanese subsidiaries is computed

substantially by the straight-line method, while the declining-

balance method is applied to the property and equipment of

consolidated Japanese subsidiaries.

Estimated useful lives are as follows:

Buildings and structures: 3 to 7 years

Equipments: 1 to 10 years

(2) Intangible assets

Intangible assets are amortized by the straight-line method.

Estimated useful lives are as follows:

Trade mark and distribution rights: 11 years

Goodwill: 5 years

(1) Property and equipment

Same as on the left.

(2) Intangible assets

Intangible assets are amortized by the straight-line method.

Estimated useful lives are as follows:

Trade mark and distribution rights: 3 to 11 years

Goodwill: 4 to 5 years
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Consolidated fiscal year – current year Consolidated fiscal year – prior year
(From January 1, 2005 to December 31, 2005) (From January 1, 2004 to December 31, 2004)

3. ALLOWANCE, RESERVE AND PROVISION

Allowance for doubtful accounts

Same as on the left.

Allowance for doubtful accounts

For the Company and its non-Japanese subsidiaries, the allowance

has been determined by reference to past default experience. For

Japanese subsidiaries, the allowance for doubtful accounts is

stated in amounts considered to be appropriate based on the past

credit loss experience and an evaluation of respective potential

losses in the receivables outstanding.

Same as on the left.

4. CONVERSION OF SIGNIFICANT ITEMS IN FOREIGN CURRENCIES

All short-term and long-term monetary receivables and payables

denominated in foreign currencies are translated into U.S. Dollars

at the exchange rates at the balance sheet date, while all revenue

and expense accounts are translated into U.S. Dollars at the

average rate of the period. The foreign exchange gains and losses

from translation are recognized in the income statement.

All assets and liabilities of foreign subsidiaries are translated into

U.S. Dollars at the exchange rates at the balance sheet date, while

all revenue and expense accounts are translated into U.S. Dollars

at the average rate applicable for the period. Differences arising

from such translation are shown as “Foreign currency translation

adjustments” in a separate component of shareholders’ equity.

Same as on the left.

Accounting policy of consumption tax

Same as on the left.

Conversion of dollars into yen

Same as on the left.

5. LEASES

For finance leases deemed not to transfer ownership of the leased

property to the lessee, leased properties are capitalized.

6. OTHER SIGNIFICANT ITEMS FOR THE PREPARATION OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Accounting policy of consumption tax

Tax-excluding method is applied.

Conversion of dollars into yen

In accordance with Article 130 of the Financial Statements rules,

the amounts in Japanese yen are calculated by the foreign currency

exchange rate (middle rate), being USD1.00=JPY118.07, from the

Tokyo Foreign Exchange Market as of December 30, 2005. The

Japanese yen amounts are stated only for the purpose of

convenience. Therefore it is not assured that the amounts in U.S.

dollars could be exchanged to Japanese yen amounts calculated by

the abovementioned exchange rate.
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FOOTNOTES TO CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

Consolidated fiscal year – current year Consolidated fiscal year – prior year

(As of December 31, 2005) (As of December 31, 2004)

※1 The reason for the negative balance of “minority interests” is

that the Company accounts for a subsidiary’s deficit on

“minority interests” based on a contract with FTSE, a co-

investor of FTSE/Xinhua Index LTD., which is a subsidiary of the

Company in Hong Kong, whereby the Company and FTSE are

jointly liable for the deficit of the subsidiary.

※2 The amount represents the deposit paid for the acquisition of

an equity share of a credit rating agency in the People’s

Republic of China (the “PRC”).

※3 Same as on the left.

※4 Assets collateralized and corresponding liabilities

US$’000 JAP¥’000

Assets collateralized

Bank deposit 389 45,934

Trade receivables 924 109,129

Other current assets 928 109,550

Equipment 78 9,181

Investment in securities 68 8,016

Correspondent obligation

Promissory notes (non-operating)

Short-term 350 41,325

Long-term 1,250 147,588

Lease obligation

(including obligations for operating lease)

Short-term 745 87,962

Long-term 2,176 256,920

※1 NIL

※2 The amount represents the deposit paid for the acquisition of

equity shares.

※3 The brand name and distribution rights are combined together

in one set of contracts and are therefore accounted for in a

single account. Another intangible asset that relates to a

separate brand name license right and a trademark is included

in this account as well.

※4 Assets collateralized and corresponding liabilities

US$’000 JAP¥’000

Assets collateralized

Bank deposit 7,514 887,187

Trade receivables 1,812 213,915

Other current assets 346 40,886

Equipment 169 19,904

Securities assets 68 8,016

In addition, investments in consolidated subsidiaries (the total

net assets amount of USD 9,852 thousand (JPY 1,163,183

thousand), which are eliminated on consolidation, have been

pledged as collateral for the bank commitment line of

USD 24,000 thousand (JPY 2,833,680 thousand).

Correspondent obligation

Bank borrowings

Short-term loans 7,482 883,433

Current portion of long-term debt 21,300 2,514,891

Promissory note (non-operating)

Short-term 1,250 147,588
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FOOTNOTES TO CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

Consolidated fiscal year – current year Consolidated fiscal year – prior year

(As of December 31, 2005) (As of December 31, 2004)

※5 These other payables include part of the consideration for the

acquisition of shares of Mergent, Inc. and Stone & McCarthy

Research Associates, Inc. The consideration for the acquisition

of shares of Stone & McCarthy Research Associates, Inc. could

fluctuate since the final payments are based on the future

operating results of the respective company.

※6 This promissory note was issued as part of the consideration

for the acquisition of shares of Ford Investor Services Inc.,

which became a consolidated subsidiary of the Company

during the period. The consideration for the acquisition of

shares could fluctuate since the final payment is based on

future operating results and future payments made for

additional obligations due under the terminated Ford executive

bonus plan.

※7 Assets are presented after deduction of allowance for doubtful

accounts.

US$’000 JAP¥’000

Amounts deducted from current assets 834 98,446

※8 The consideration for the acquisition of shares of Market News

International, Inc., G-7 Group, Inc. and Stone & McCarthy

Research Associates, Inc. could fluctuate since the final

payments are based on the future operating results of the

respective companies. The consideration for the acquisition of

shares of Ford Investor Services Inc. could fluctuate since the

final payment is based on the future operating results and

future payments made for additional obligations due under the

terminated Ford executive bonus plan.

※5 Other payables and long-term other payables include part of

the consideration for the acquisition of shares of Taylor

Rafferty Associates, Inc., Washington Analysis, LLC and

Shanghai Pobo Data and Information Network Consulting Co.,

Ltd. The consideration for the acquisition of shares of these

companies could fluctuate since the final payments are based

on the future operating results of the respective company.

※6 NIL

※7 Assets are presented after deduction of allowance for doubtful

accounts.

US$’000 JAP¥’000

Amounts deducted from current assets 373 44,099

※8 The consideration for the acquisition of shares of Taylor

Rafferty Associates, Inc., Washington Analysis, LLC and

Shanghai Pobo Data and Information Network Consulting Co.,

Ltd. could fluctuate since the final payments are based on the

future operating results of the respective company.
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FOOTNOTES TO CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

Consolidated fiscal year – current year Consolidated fiscal year – prior year

(As of December 31, 2005) (As of December 31, 2004)

※9 Xinhua Mergent Holdings Limited and Market News

International, Inc. have a line of credit agreements with banks.

The amount of the line of credit and the balance outstanding

under the agreements at December 31, 2004 are as follows:

US$’000 JAP¥’000

Total amount of the line of credit 24,500 2,892,715

Outstanding balance – –

Remaining amount of the line

of credit 24,500 2,892,715

NIL

※9 Xinhua Mergent Holdings Limited and Shanghai Huacai

Investment Advisory Company Limited have a line of credit

agreements with banks. The amount of the line of credit and

the balance outstanding under the agreements at December

31, 2005 are as follows:

US$’000 JAP¥’000

Total amount of the line of credit 30,482 3,599,043

Outstanding balance 28,782 3,398,324

Remaining amount of the line

of credit 1,700 200,719

Under the line of credit agreement held by Xinhua Mergent

Holdings Limited, the following covenants should be maintained:

(1) ratio of consolidated total debt at any time during a relevant

period to consolidated EBITDA for that relevant period shall

not at any time exceed 3.5:1; and

(2) interest coverage ratio for each relevant period shall not be

less than 4:1.

※ 1-9 notes correspond with ※1-9 as denoted in the

Consolidated Balance Sheets.

※ 1-9 notes correspond with ※1-9 as denoted in the

Consolidated Balance Sheets.
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FOOTNOTES TO CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENTS

Consolidated fiscal year – current year Consolidated fiscal year – prior year

(From January 1, 2005 to December 31, 2005) (From January 1, 2004 to December 31, 2004)

※1 Expenses directly relating to share issuance are presented as

“share issuance related expenses,” which include “share

issuance cost.”

※2 Components of loss on disposal of fixed assets are as follows:

US$’000 JAP¥’000

Equipment 2 201

※3 NIL

※4 NIL

※1 Expenses directly relating to share issuance are presented as

“share issuance related expenses,” which include “share

issuance cost.”

※2 Components of loss on disposal of fixed assets are as follows:

US$’000 JAP¥’000

Buildings and structures 3 308

Equipment 43 5,022

※3 Loss on impairment

The Group recognized losses on impairment for an asset group

presented below for the year ended December 31, 2005.

Area Object Type Recognized losses

US$’000 JAP¥’000

Asia Asset for Trademark 83 9,763

operation

Grouping is basically implemented by each company unit.

However, if it is possible to identify cashflows from an

individual asset, recoverable amount is determined for each

individual asset.

Considering continuous operating losses arising from the

above assets, the carrying amount of the assets was reduced

to the recoverable amount, and the reduced amount was

recorded as loss on impairment in the extraordinary losses

section of the consolidated income statement.

Recoverable amount of the asset group was determined based

upon value in use. The loss on impairment was recognized at

the entire carrying amount of the asset group because the

estimated future cash flows arising from the asset group were

negative.

※4 Components of gain on sale of fixed assets are as follows:

US$’000 JAP¥’000

Equipment 0 14

Goodwill 356 41,988

Trade mark and distribution rights 98 11,537

※ 1-4 notes correspond with ※1-4 as denoted in the

Consolidated Income Statements.

※ 1-4 notes correspond with ※1-4 as denoted in the

Consolidated Income Statements.
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FOOTNOTES TO CONSOLIDATED SURPLUS STATEMENTS

Consolidated fiscal year – current year Consolidated fiscal year – prior year

(From January 1, 2005 to December 31, 2005) (From January 1, 2004 to December 31, 2004)

※1 The Company acquired full ownership of Stone & McCarthy

Research Associates, Inc. through cash and share exchange.

However, the Company’s shares to be exchanged for

subsequent consideration have not been issued, whereas

related acquisition costs have been included in share premium.

※2 This represents transfer of suspense account of share exchange

into share capital and share premium due to issuance of shares

previously unissued at the time of share exchange with Xinhua

Investment Group Hong Kong Ltd. and Xinhua Finance Japan

Limited (formerly known as Xinhua Netchina Ltd.).

※1 The Company acquired full ownership of Taylor Rafferty

Associates, Inc., Washington Analysis, LLC and Beijing Century

Media Culture Co., Ltd. through a cash and share exchange.

However, the Company’s shares to be exchanged for

subsequent consideration have not been issued, whereas

related acquisition costs have been included in share premium.

※2 NIL

※ 1-2 notes correspond with ※1-2 as denoted in the

Consolidated Surplus Statements.

※ 1-2 notes correspond with ※1-2 as denoted in the

Consolidated Surplus Statements.
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FOOTNOTES/NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED CASHFLOW STATEMENTS

Consolidated fiscal year – current year Consolidated fiscal year – prior year

(From January 1, 2005 to December 31, 2005) (From January 1, 2004 to December 31, 2004)

※1 Reconciliation between ending balances of cash and cash

equivalents in consolidated cashflow statement and balance in

consolidated balance sheet:

US$’000 JAP¥’000

Cash and bank balances 40,449 4,775,783

Deposit pledged as collateral (360 ) (42,505)

Cash and cash equivalents 40,089 4,733,278

※2 Major component of subsidiaries’ assets and liabilities newly

consolidated through acquisition of its shares

Major components of subsidiaries’ assets and liabilities newly

consolidated (MNI, G7, SMRA, Mergent, Ford and 7 other

subsidiaries) through acquisition of shares, cost of acquisition

and net cash outflow are summarized as follows:

US$’000 JAP¥’000

Current assets 12,257 1,447,142

Non-current assets 16,475 1,945,216

Current liabilities (23,372 ) (2,759,507)

Goodwill on consolidation 115,730 13,664,262

Acquisition costs of newly

acquired subsidiaries 121,090 14,297,113

Price of share issued on

share exchange (44,978 ) (5,310,576)

Accounts payable (21,388 ) (2,525,249)

Cash and cash equivalents

of acquired subsidiaries (5,502 ) (649,641)

Net cash outflow due to

acquisition of subsidiaries 49,222 5,811,648

※1 Reconciliation between ending balances of cash and cash

equivalents in consolidated cashflow statement and balance in

consolidated balance sheet:

US$’000 JAP¥’000

Cash and bank balances 88,118 10,404,071

Deposit pledged as collateral (7,448 ) (879,427)

Cash and cash equivalents 80,669 9,524,644

※2 Major component of subsidiaries’ assets and liabilities newly

consolidated through acquisition of its shares

Major components of subsidiaries’ assets and liabilities newly

consolidated (Taylor Rafferty Associates, Inc., EconWorld Media

Ltd., Washington Analysis LLC, Shanghai Pobo Data and

Information Network Consulting Co., Ltd, Shanghai Far East

Credit Rating Co., Ltd., Beijing Century Media Culture Co., Ltd

and 10 other subsidiaries) through acquisition of shares, cost

of acquisition and net cash outflow are summarized as

follows:

US$’000 JAP¥’000

Current assets 14,244 1,681,743

Non-current assets 4,122 486,680

Current liabilities (13,013 ) (1,536,423)

Non-current liabilities (442 ) (52,155)

Goodwill on consolidation 55,543 6,558,017

Minority interests (2,356 ) (278,150)

Acquisition costs of newly

acquired subsidiaries 58,099 6,859,712

Deposit paid for acquisition (121) (14,280)

Stock issue price on

share exchange (23,016 ) (2,717,523)

Other payables (17,075 ) (2,016,056)

Cash and cash equivalents of

acquired subsidiaries (6,856 ) (809,532)

Net cash outflow due to

acquisition of subsidiaries 11,030 1,302,321
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FOOTNOTES/NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED CASHFLOW STATEMENTS

Consolidated fiscal year – current year Consolidated fiscal year – prior year

(From January 1, 2005 to December 31, 2005) (From January 1, 2004 to December 31, 2004)

※3 Major components of assets and liabilities increased through

asset purchase

Major components of assets and liabilities increased through

asset purchase from Capco Reference Data Services and net

cash outflow are summarized as follows:

US$’000 JAP¥’000

Current assets 11 1,335

Non-current assets 583 68,802

Current liabilities (329) (38,790)

Goodwill 3,460 408,486

Net cash outflow due to

asset purchase 3,725 439,832

4 Major non-cash transactions

(1) Share capital and share premium increased through share

exchange were USD 120 thousand (JPY 14,140 thousand)

and USD 46,168 thousand (JPY 5,451,002 thousand),

respectively.

(2) The Group entered into finance leases in respect to

property and equipment with total capital value at the

inception of the leases of USD 17 thousand (JPY 2,007

thousand) during the year.

(3) In order to satisfy a debt on behalf of a certain company,

XFL issued its ordinary shares without receiving the

corresponding capital contribution. This transaction was

recognized as a loan to this company and the share capital

and the share premium of XFL increased upon this

issuance are USD 1 thousand (JPY 135 thousand) and

USD 652 thousand (JPY 77,003 thousand), respectively.

(4) The amount of notes payable additionally issued as a

consideration for conditional acquisition costs on the

acquisition of a subsidiary is USD 18,788 thousand

(JPY 2,218,267 thousand).

(5) The Group received securities assets of USD 6,052

thousand (JPY 714,560 thousand) for services performed.

※3 NIL

4 Major non-cash transactions

(1) Share capital and share premium increased through share

exchange were USD 23 thousand (JPY 2,657 thousand)

and USD 16,949 thousand (JPY 2,001,194 thousand),

respectively.

(2) The Group entered into finance leases in respect to

property and equipment with total capital value of USD 32

thousand (JPY 3,741 thousand) at the inception of the

lease during the year.

(3) The Group received securities assets of USD 11,531

thousand (JPY 1,361,422 thousand) for services

performed.
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OTHER NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. LEASE TRANSACTION

Consolidated fiscal year – current year Consolidated fiscal year – prior year

(From January 1, 2005 to December 31, 2005) (From January 1, 2004 to December 31, 2004)

US$’000 JAP¥’000 US$’000 JAP¥’000

Operating leases:

Minimum lease commitments

Within one year 3,894 459,721 2,954 348,779

After one year 8,457 998,469 5,219 616,207

Total 12,350 1,458,190 8,173 964,986

2. SECURITIES
(1) Trading Securities

Consolidated fiscal year – current year Consolidated fiscal year – prior year

(As of December 31, 2005) (As of December 31, 2004)

US$’000 JAP¥’000 NIL

Amounts on Consolidated Balance Sheets 145 17,131

Gain (loss) included in Consolidated

Income Statements – –

(2) Available-for-sale securities with fair value

Consolidated  fiscal year – current year Consolidated  fiscal year – prior year

(As of December 31, 2005) (As of December 31, 2004)

Amounts on Amounts on

Consolidated Consolidated

Acquisition cost Balance Sheets Difference Acquisition cost Balance Sheets Difference

Category US$’000 JAP¥’000 US$’000 JAP¥’000 US$’000 JAP¥’000 US$’000 JAP¥’000 US$’000 JAP¥’000 US$’000 JAP¥’000

Book value more than

acquisition cost:

a) Equity securities – – – – – – – – – – – –

b) Debt securities – – – – – – – – – – – –

c) Other – – – – – – 4,329 511,067 6,968 822,690 2,639 311,623

Subtotal – – – – – – 4,329 511,067 6,968 822,690 2,639 311,623

Book value less than

acquisition cost:

a) Equity securities 14 1,670 14 1,670 – – – – – – – –

b) Debt securities – – – – – – – – – – – –

c) Other – – – – – – 5,973 705,219 3,183 375,796 (2,790) (329,423)

Subtotal 14 1,670 14 1,670 – – 5,973 705,219 3,183 375,796 (2,790) (329,423)

TOTAL 14 1,670 14 1,670 – – 10,301 1,216,286 10,151 1,198,485 (151) (17,801)

(Note1) “Other” above is categorized into securities assets on the Consolidated Balance Sheets.
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Consolidated fiscal year – current year Consolidated fiscal year – prior year

(As of December 31, 2005) (As of December 31, 2004)

(3) Available-for-sale securities sold in the current fiscal period

US$’000 JAP¥’000 NIL

Amount on sale 21,788 2,572,484

Gain on sale – –

Loss on sale 44 5,224

(4) Securities not stated at fair value

Consolidated fiscal year – Consolidated  fiscal year –

current year prior  year

(As of December 31, 2005) (As of December 31, 2004)

Amounts on Consolidated Amounts on Consolidated

Balance Sheets Balance Sheets

Category US$’000 JAP¥’000 US$’000 JAP¥’000

Available-for-sale securities

a) Unlisted securities 21,788 2,572,484 – –

b) Fund trust 880 103,916 – –

c) Investment in limited liability company 68 8,016 – –

Other investments

a) Investment in securities – – 68 8,016

Total 22,736 2,684,417 68 8,016

(Note1) Available-for-sale securities and other investments above are categorized into investment in securities on the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

(5) Redemption schedule for held-to-maturity securities

Consolidated fiscal year – current year Consolidated fiscal year – prior year
(As of December 31, 2005) (As of December 31, 2004)

Over 1 year Over 5 years Over 1 year Over 5 years

Within 1 year to 5 years to 10 years Over 10 years Within 1 year to 5 years to 10 years Over 10 years

Category US$’000 JAP¥’000 US$’000 JAP¥’000 US$’000 JAP¥’000 US$’000 JAP¥’000 US$’000 JAP¥’000 US$’000 JAP¥’000 US$’000 JAP¥’000 US$’000 JAP¥’000

Debt securities

Corporate bond – – 617 72,892 – – – – – – – – – – – –

Total – – 617 72,892 – – – – – – – – – – – –
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OTHER NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Consolidated fiscal year – current year Consolidated fiscal year – prior year

(From January 1, 2005 to December 31, 2005) (From January 1, 2004 to December 31, 2004)

3. DERIVATIVE TRANSACTIONS

(1) Retirement benefit scheme

Same as on the left

(2) Projected benefit obligation

Same as on the left

(3) Service cost and relative expenses

Same as on the left

(4) Basis of calculation to determine projected benefit

obligation

Same as on the left

Same as on the left

4. EMPLOYEES’ RETIREMENT BENEFITS

The Group does not enter into any derivative contracts.

(1) Retirement benefit scheme

Subsidiaries located in Hong Kong, PRC and U.S.A. apply

defined-contribution retirement benefit plan.

(2) Projected benefit obligation

Not applicable.

(3) Service cost and relative expenses

Not applicable.

(4) Basis of calculation to determine projected benefit

obligation

Not applicable.
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OTHER NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Consolidated fiscal year – current year Consolidated fiscal year – prior year

(From January 1,2005 to December 31, 2005) (From January 1, 2004 to December 31, 2004)

5. TAXATION
(1) Major components of deferred tax assets and liabilities

US$’000 JAP¥’000 US$’000 JAP¥’000

Deferred tax assets

Unutilized tax losses 18,074 2,133,947 21,421 2,529,177

Subscription revenue received in advance 315 37,192 215 25,385

Allowance for doubtful accounts 114 13,507 46 5,455

Accruals 378 44,682 – –

Other 198 23,399 186 21,951

Subtotal 19,080 2,252,728 21,868 2,581,968

Valuation reserve (18,074) (2,133,947)  (21,447) (2,532,293)

Total deferred tax assets 1,006 118,780 421 49,675

Deferred tax liabilities

Allowance for doubtful accounts (127) (14,995) (97) (11,453)

Depreciation and amortization (36) (4,282) (44) (5,219)

Other (67) (7,940) (25) (2,952)

Total deferred tax liabilities (231) (27,217) (166) (19,623)

Net of deferred tax assets and

deferred tax liabilities 776 91,563 255 30,052

Net of deferred tax assets and

deferred tax liabilities appear

on the consolidated Balance Sheets as follows:

Deferred tax assets – current 571 67,474 299 35,271

Deferred tax assets – non-current 204 24,089 – –

Deferred tax liabilities – current – – – –

Deferred tax liabilities – non-current – – (44) (5,219)
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Consolidated fiscal year – current year Consolidated fiscal year – prior year

(From January 1, 2005 to December 31, 2005) (From January 1, 2004 to December 31, 2004)

(2) Reconciliation between the normal statutory tax rate and the actual effective tax rate

Tax at the applicable income tax rate 17.5%

Reconciliation

Tax effect of expenses not deductible

for tax purposes (24.0%)

Tax effect of income not taxable

for tax purposes 2.4%

Tax effect of unrecognized tax losses (10.1%)

Tax effect of utilization of tax losses

not previously recognized 9.4%

Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries

operating in other jurisdictions 6.6%

Other (0.2%)

Tax effect and effective tax rate for the year 1.7%

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION
(1) Business Segment

Tax at the applicable income tax rate 17.5%

Reconciliation

Tax effect of expenses not deductible

for tax purposes 902.4%

Tax effect of income not taxable

for tax purposes (560.0%)

Tax effect of unrecognized tax losses 38.1%

Tax effect of utilization of tax losses

not previously recognized (151.2%)

Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries

operating in other jurisdictions 298.3%

Other 22.9%

Tax effect and effective tax rate for the year 568.0%

As the Company is a foreign company, there is a significant difference

between “income before income taxes and minority interests” under

IFRS (USD 13,889 thousand) and that under J GAAP (USD 518

thousand), which caused reconciliation items with large percentages.

The Group is engaged solely in financial information business,

which includes distribution of market indices, financial news, credit

ratings, investor relations services and other related services. Thus,

information of business segmentation is omitted.

Same as on the left.
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(2) Regional Segmental Information

Consolidated fiscal year – current year

(From January 1, 2005 to December 31, 2005)

Eliminated or

Japan Asia North America Other location Total unallocated Consolidated

Category US$’000 JAP¥’000 US$’000 JAP¥’000 US$’000 JAP¥’000 US$’000 JAP¥’000 US$’000 JAP¥’000 US$’000 JAP¥’000 US$’000 JAP¥’000

Sales and operating income (loss)

Sales

a) Outside customer 4,630 546,617 33,653 3,973,379 71,451 8,436,218 277 32,671 110,010 12,988,885 – – 110,010 12,988,885

b) Inter segment or transfer – – 7,418 875,857 1,157 136,664 8,855 1,045,494 17,430 2,058,015 (17,430) (2,058,015) – –

Total 4,630 546,617 41,071 4,849,236 72,608 8,572,882 9,132 1,078,165 127,441 15,046,900 (17,430) (2,058,015) 110,010 12,988,885

Operating expenses 4,807 567,518 30,950 3,654,305 78,944 9,320,936 8,701 1,027,327 123,402 14,570,086 (16,864) (1,991,093) 106,538 12,578,993

Operating income (loss) (177) (20,901) 10,121 1,194,931 (6,336) (748,054) 431 50,837 4,038 476,814 (567) (66,921) 3,472 409,893

Assets 1,324 156,277 75,509 8,915,291 186,531 22,023,757 105,453 12,450,852 368,817 43,546,177 – – 368,817 43,546,177

Consolidated fiscal year – prior year

(From January 1, 2004 to December 31, 2004)

Eliminated or

Japan Asia North America Other location Total unallocated Consolidated

Category US$’000 JAP¥’000 US$’000 JAP¥’000 US$’000 JAP¥’000 US$’000 JAP¥’000 US$’000 JAP¥’000 US$’000 JAP¥’000 US$’000 JAP¥’000

Sales and operating income (loss)

Sales

a) Outside customer 3,672 433,497 19,105 2,255,676 36,172 4,270,818 741 87,485 59,689 7,047,476 – – 59,689 7,047,476

b) Inter segment or transfer – – 324 38,242 – – – – 324 38,242 (324) (38,242) – –

Total 3,672 433,497 19,428 2,293,919 36,172 4,270,818 741 87,485 60,013 7,085,719 (324) (38,242) 59,689 7,047,476

Operating expenses 3,674 433,795 20,895 2,467,071 37,254 4,398,555 2,000 236,168 63,823 7,535,590 – – 63,823 7,535,590

Operating income (loss) (3) (298) (1,467) (173,153) (1,082) (127,737) (1,259) (148,683) (3,810) (449,871) (324) (38,242) (4,134) (488,114)

Assets 2,740 323,538 55,763 6,583,893 143,389 16,929,985 35 4,155 201,927 23,841,572 – – 201,927 23,841,573

Note

1 Location segments are based on geographical closeness.

2 Main countries or locations which do not belong to Japan:

a) Asia ..................... Hong Kong, China, Singapore and so on.

b) North America ...... U.S.A.

c) Other location ...... U.K. and so on
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(3) Overseas Sales

Consolidated fiscal year – current year

(From January 1, 2005 to December 31, 2005)

Category Asia North America Europe Other Total

US$’000 JAP¥’000 US$’000 JAP¥’000 US$’000 JAP¥’000 US$’000 JAP¥’000 US$’000 JAP¥’000

a) Overseas Sales 17,381 2,052,119 64,912 7,664,175 18,718 2,210,003 1,105 130,503 102,116 12,056,800

b) Consolidated Sales – – – – – – – – 110,010 12,988,885

c) Ratio of overseas

sales which

accounts for

consolidated

sales (%) 15.8% 59.0% 17.0% 1.0% 92.8%

Consolidated fiscal year – prior year

(From January 1, 2004 to December 31, 2004)

Category Asia North America Europe Other Total

US$’000 JAP¥’000 US$’000 JAP¥’000 US$’000 JAP¥’000 US$’000 JAP¥’000 US$’000 JAP¥’000

a) Overseas Sales 11,994 1,416,079 33,021 3,898,752 9,448 1,115,543 151 17,858 54,614 6,448,232

b) Consolidated Sales – – – – – – – – 59,689 7,047,476

c) Ratio of overseas

sales which

accounts for

consolidated

sales (%) 20.1% 55.3% 15.8% 0.3% 91.5%

Note

1 Location segments are based on the geographical closeness.

2 Main countries or locations which do not belong to Japan.

(1) Asia ..................... Hong Kong, China, Singapore and so on

(2) North America ...... U.S.A. and Canada

(3) Europe .................. U.K., Germany and France and so on

(4) Other ....................Australia, South America and so on

3 Overseas sales are sales of the Company and consolidated subsidiaries in other than domestic locations.
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Consolidated fiscal year – current year Consolidated fiscal year – prior year

(From January 1, 2005 to December 31, 2005) (From January 1, 2004 to December 31, 2004)

7. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Company does not have any related party transactions.Sister company

(1) Category

Sister company

(2) Name of the related party

NIS Securities Co., Ltd.

(3) Address

Shinjuku-ku, Tokyo

(4) Share capital

JPY 1,620 million

(5) Nature of business

A securities company

(6) Ratio of voting right (held by the Company/held by the related

party)

None

(7) Relationship

Concurrency of directors None

Business relationship None

(8) Nature of transactions

Underwriter of the Company’s share upon a share issuance

(9) Amount

USD 4,367 thousand (JPY 515,605 thousand)

(10) Name of account

Share issuance related expense

(11) Remaining balance as of the year end

None

Terms and condition of agreement are determined in third arms’

length.
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Consolidated fiscal year – current year Consolidated fiscal year – prior year

(From January 1, 2005 to December 31, 2005) (From January 1, 2004 to December 31, 2004)

8 PER SHARE INFORMATION

US$’ JAP¥’

Net assets per share 305.65 36,087.70

Suspense account of share exchange included in share premium is

excluded from the process of calculation of net asset per share.

Net loss per share 4.25 501.90

For diluted net income per share, even if the Company has shares

with dilution effect, the Company is in a loss position, thus, such

information is not stated.

On September 22, 2005, the Company made a share split by way

of a free share distribution at the rate of 2 shares for each

outstanding 1 share.

If the share split had been effective from the beginning of the

prior year, the per share information would have been as follows:

Net assets per share 239.89 28,323.60

Net loss per share 34.65 4,090.54

The diluted net loss per share is not stated because of the net loss

position.

(Note) Basis of calculation for the net income (loss) per share

US$’000 JAP¥’000

Net loss on the consolidated

income statements 2,814 332,299

Net loss not attributed

to ordinary shares – –

Net loss attributed

to ordinary shares 2,814 332,299

Average number of ordinary shares

during the period 662,085.34 shares

US$’ JAP¥’

Net assets per share 719.66 84,970.79

Suspense account of share exchange included in share premium is

excluded from the process of calculation of net asset per share.

Net loss per share 103.94 12,271.62

For diluted net income per share, even if the Company has shares

with dilution effect, the Company is in a loss position, thus, such

information is not stated.

The Company’s outstanding shares were reversely split on August

24, 2004 on a one for two thousand basis.

US$’000 JAP¥’000

Net loss on the consolidated

income statements 9,305 1,098,684

Net loss not attributed

to ordinary shares – –

Net loss attributed

to ordinary shares 9,305 1,098,684

Average number of ordinary shares

during the period 89,530.42 shares
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Consolidated fiscal year – current year Consolidated fiscal year – prior year

(From January 1, 2005 to December 31, 2005) (From January 1, 2004 to December 31, 2004)

9 SIGNIFICANT SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

1. On January 12, 2006, the Company has completed

acquisition of Ming Shing International Ltd.

(1) Purpose of the acquisition

The acquisition advances the Company’s strategy of

leveraging the value of existing content offerings and

enhancing distribution and financial markets

communications capabilities across China.

(2) Outline of Ming Shing International Ltd.

Locations: Hong Kong, Beijing, Shanghai.

Business: Advertising

(3) Outline of the acquisition

a) Method of acquisition

Acquired ordinary shares (1,000 shares, 100%) of

Ming Shing International Ltd.

b) Acquisition cost and payment term

Initial consideration of USD29,000 thousand

(JPY3,424,030 thousand) was settled by cash. The

subsequent consideration to be determined based on

the performance of Ming Shing International Ltd. in

2005, 2006 and 2007 will be settled by cash and the

Company’s ordinary shares.

c) Name of Sellers

Lu Chin Chien

d) Date of acquisition

January 12, 2006

On February 9, 2005, the Compensation Committee of the Board

of Directors approved that the Company would issue stock options

based upon the compensation strategy designed to align the

interests of employees and shareholders. The summary of this

issuance is summarized as follows:

(1) Class and number of shares issued pursuant to the stock

option

Ordinary shares, the maximum number to be issued is 4,665

and the minimum is 2,253.

(2) Issue price of the stock option

No consideration

(3) Strike price

Based upon the average closing price of shares for the 90 days

ending December 31, 2004.

(4) Exercisable period

Exercisable over three years to encourage long term

commitment, one third being granted at each year end of

2005, 2006 and 2007, and expired ten years from the date of

grant.

(5) Conditions of the grant

Half of the shares in each option grant will be awarded based

on the achievement of financial targets and overall company

objectives, while the remaining options will be awarded based

upon the managing personnel’s position with the company.

(6) Grantees of the options

Managing personnel of the Group.
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Consolidated fiscal year – current year Consolidated fiscal year – prior year

(From January 1, 2005 to December 31, 2005) (From January 1, 2004 to December 31, 2004)

2. On January 23, 2006, the Board of Directors resolved that

the Company would grant stock options as follows:

(1) Grant to independent directors

a) Grantees of the option

2 independent directors

b) Number of stock options to be granted

2

c) Class and number of shares to be issued pursuant to

the stock option

5,000 ordinary shares

d) Issue price of the stock option

No consideration

e) Strike price

JPY74,247 per share (Based upon the average closing

price of the Company’s share for the 15 trading days

ending January 20, 2006 at Tokyo Stock Exchange)

f) Exercisable period

From January 31, 2006 to January 31, 2009

(2) Grant to directors

a) Grantees of the options

5 directors/non-executive directors

b) Number of stock options to be granted

5

c) Class and number of shares to be issued pursuant to

the stock option

6,000 ordinary shares

d) Issue price of the stock option

No consideration

e) Strike price

JPY71,844 per share (Based upon the average closing

price of the Company’s share for the 90 days ending

December 31, 2005 at Tokyo Stock Exchange)

f) Exercisable period

From January 31, 2006 to January 31, 2016

NIL
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Consolidated fiscal year – current year Consolidated fiscal year – prior year

(From January 1, 2005 to December 31, 2005) (From January 1, 2004 to December 31, 2004)

3. On March 02, 2006, the Company entered into contract to

acquire Beijing Alpha Financial Engineering Co., Ltd.

(1) Purpose of the acquisition

The purpose of the acquisition is to deepen and broaden

the Company’s offering by providing comprehensive index

services and better investment solutions and tools.

(2) Outline of Beijing Alpha Financial Engineering Co., Ltd.

Locations: Beijing, China

Revenue: USD 259 thousand (For the year ended

December 31, 2005)

Share capital: RMB 2,500 thousand

Business: Development and transfer of software

technology, technical training and service;

sale of computers and auxiliary

equipments

(3) Outline of the acquisition

a) Method of acquisition

The Company will directly acquire 100% of the shares

of Beijing Alpha Financial Engineering Co., Ltd. from

its shareholders.

b) Acquisition cost and payment term

The purchase price will be paid over a period of three

years, in an amount linked to the performance of

Beijing Alpha Financial Engineering Co., Ltd. in 2005,

2006, 2007 and 2008. The total consideration is

estimated at USD 2,000,000.

c) Name of Sellers

Cheng Bing

Ma Yuewen

d) Schedule of the acquisition

The acquisition is subject to the approval from the

Chinese regulatory authorities. It is expected that the

approval process will take approximately 90 days.

NIL
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CONSOLIDATED SUPPORTING SCHEDULES

SCHEDULE OF LOANS AND OBLIGATIONS
Balance at the Balance at the end Average Repayment

Category beginning of the year of the year interest rate date

US$’000 JAP¥’000 US$’000 JAP¥’000 %

Short-term bank loans 122 14,366 7,608 898,235 5.51 –

Current portion of long-term bank loans 40 4,711 21,341 2,519,746 8.37 –

Long-term bank loans From 2006

(excluding current portion) 48 5,654 16 1,942 4.80 to 2007

Other interest-bearing obligation

Obligation under finance lease

– due within one year 37 4,420 29 3,393 14.64 –

Obligation under finance lease

– due after one year 26 3,039 25 2,976 3.74 From 2006

to 2008

Total 273 32,189 29,019 3,426,292 – –

(Note) 1 “Average interest rate” is the weighted average interest rate based on the balance at the end of the fiscal year.

2 Schedule of the repayment of long-term bank loans (excluding current portion) for each of the next five years is as follows:

Category Due in the second year Due in the third year Due in the fourth year Due in the fifth year

US$’000 JAP¥’000 US$’000 JAP¥’000 US$’000 JAP¥’000 US$’000 JAP¥’000

Long-term bank loans

(excluding current portion) 16 1,942 – – – – – –

Other interest-bearing obligation

(Obligation under finance lease) 9 1,056 16 1,920 – – – –
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AUDITORS’ REPORT

Hong Kong

TO THE DIRECTORS OF XINHUA FINANCE LIMITED

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the financial statements on pages 70 to 120 which have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting

Standards.

RESPECTIVE RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND AUDITORS
The Company’s directors are responsible for the preparation of financial statements which give a true and fair view. In preparing financial statements

which give a true and fair view it is fundamental that appropriate accounting policies are selected and applied consistently.

It is our responsibility to form an independent opinion, based on our audit, on those financial statements and to report our opinion solely to you, as a

body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

BASIS OF OPINION
We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

An audit includes examination, on a test basis, of evidence relevant to the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. It also includes an

assessment of the significant estimates and judgments made by the directors in the preparation of the financial statements, and of whether the

accounting policies are appropriate to the circumstances of the Company and the Group, consistently applied and adequately disclosed.

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the information and explanations which we considered necessary in order to provide us with

sufficient evidence to give reasonable assurance as to whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement. In forming our opinion we

also evaluated the overall adequacy of the presentation of information in the financial statements. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable

basis for our opinion.

OPINION
In our opinion the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and the Group as at December 31, 2005 and of

the profit and cash flows of the Company and the Group for the year then ended.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu

Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong

March 10, 2006
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Notes The Group The Company

1.1.2005 1.1.2004 1.1.2005 1.5.2004
to to to to

12.31.2005 12.31.2004 12.31.2005 12.31.2004

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Revenue 110,010 59,690 8,186 5,355

Cost of sales (47,869) (29,688) (4,796) (5,279)

Gross profit 62,141 30,002 3,390 76

Other income 2,811 223 158 71

Marketing and promotional

expenses (4,189) (2,111) – –

Administrative expenses (39,446) (23,386) (3,531) (1,138)

Impairment loss on intangible

assets (83) – – –

Impairment loss on investments

in subsidiaries – – – (1,400)

Reversal of impairment loss on

investments in subsidiaries – – 1,400 –

Unrealised loss on investments

in securities – (151) – –

Profit (loss) before interest, tax,

depreciation and amortisation 21,234 4,577 1,417 (2,391)

Depreciation and amortisation (6,604) (5,291) – –

Profit (loss) from operations 7 14,630 (714) 1,417 (2,391)

Finance costs 8 (741) (498) (35) (363)

Profit (loss) before taxation 13,889 (1,212) 1,382 (2,754)

Taxation 9 (2,942) 155 – –

Profit (loss) for the year/period 10,947 (1,057) 1,382 (2,754)

Attributable to:

Equity holders of the Company 10,270 (1,420) 1,382 (2,754)

Minority interests 677 363 – –

10,947 (1,057) 1,382 (2,754)

Earnings (loss) per share

– Basic 10 US$15.51 (US$5.29) US$2.09 (US$10.25)

– Diluted US$15.23 N/A US$2.05 N/A
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
AT DECEMBER 31, 2005

Notes 2005 2004

US$’000 US$’000

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 11 6,270 3,727

Intangible assets 13 700 11,508

Goodwill 14 209,470 122,853

Negative goodwill 15 – (33 )

Interest in an associate 16 223 –

Investments in securities 17 24,851 10,219

Payment deposit for acquisition of subsidiaries 18 29,000 121

Payment deposit for acquisition of property,

plant and equipment 2,806 –

Deferred taxation 19 776 255

274,096 148,650

Current assets

Trade and other receivables 25,913 15,116

Amount due from a related company 1,732 –

Amount due from a director 182 –

Amount due from a joint alliance partner 48 144

Amount due from a shareholder – 458

Taxation recoverable 816 171

Bank balances and cash 81,636 40,449

110,327 56,338

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 16,626 10,635

Subscriptions received in advance 15,576 15,748

Consideration payable for acquisition

due within one year 22 10,952 20,138

Obligations under an onerous contract due

within one year 23 375 375

Obligations under finance leases due within

one year 24 29 37

Amount due to a minority shareholder

of a subsidiary 301 441

Amount due to a shareholder 100 900

Amount due to a director – 86

Loan from a shareholder – 23

Taxation payable 2,802 398

Current portion of long-term bank loans 25 21,341 40

Short-term bank loans 1,125 122

69,227 48,943

Net current assets 41,100 7,395

Total assets less current liabilities 315,196 156,045
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AT DECEMBER 31, 2005

Notes 2005 2004

US$’000 US$’000

Non-current liabilities

Consideration payable for acquisition

due after one year 22 8,373 1,250

Obligations under an onerous contract due

after one year 23 625 999

Obligations under finance leases due

after one year 24 25 26

Long-term bank loans 25 16 48

Advance from a shareholder 26 700 –

Other long-term payables 1,300 1,694

11,039 4,017

Net assets 304,157 152,028

Capital and reserves

Share capital 27 2,091 522

Reserves 299,440 151,686

Equity attributable to equity holders of the

Company 301,531 152,208

Minority interests 2,626 (180)

Total equity 304,157 152,028

The financial statements on pages 70 to 120 were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on March 10, 2006 and are signed on

its behalf by:

FREDY BUSH SHELLY SINGHAL

DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
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Notes 2005 2004

US$’000 US$’000

Non-current asset

Investment in subsidiaries 12 207,189 139,590

Amounts due from subsidiaries 1,556 750

208,745 140,340

Current assets

Accounts receivables 5 –

Amounts due from subsidiaries 100,677 30,318

Bank balances 13 –

100,695 30,318

Current liabilities

Accounts payables 63 63

Consideration payable for acquisition 22 9,702 19,788

Amounts due to subsidiaries 303 277

Amount due to a director 144 65

10,212 20,193

Net current assets 90,483 10,125

Net assets less current liabilities 299,228 150,465

Non-current liability

Consideration payable for acquisition

due after one year 22 8,373 –

Net assets 290,855 150,465

Capital and reserves

Share capital 27 2,091 522

Reserves 288,764 149,943

Total equity 290,855 150,465

FREDY BUSH SHELLY SINGHAL

DIRECTOR DIRECTOR



Report and Financial Statements under IFRS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2005

74

Xinhua Finance Annual Report 2005

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Attributable
to equity

Share holders
Share Share option Contributed Special Translation of the Minority

capital premium reserve surplus reserve reserve Deficit Company interests Total

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

THE GROUP

At January 1, 2004 188 44,531 – – 3,604 – (20,326) 27,997 (281) 27,716

Arising on group reorganisation – (44,531) – 44,531 – – – – – –

Issue of shares 334 131,370 – – (3,604) – – 128,100 – 128,100

Expenses incurred in connection

with the issue of shares – (4,931) – – – – – (4,931) – (4,931)

Shares issuable upon acquisition

of subsidiaries – – – – 2,604 – – 2,604 – 2,604

Acquisition of additional interests

in a subsidiary – – – – – – – – (19) (19)

Distribution of results to a joint

alliance partner – – – – – – – – (243) (243)

334 81,908 – 44,531 (1,000) – – 125,773 (262) 125,511

Exchange differences arising from

translation of financial statements

of overseas operations, representing

net expense recognised in equity – – – – – (142) – (142) – (142)

Loss for the year – – – – – – (1,420) (1,420) 363 (1,057)

Total recognised income and expense

for the year – – – – – (142) (1,420) (1,562) 363 (1,199)

At December 31, 2004 522 126,439 – 44,531 2,604 (142) (21,746) 152,208 (180) 152,028

Effect of change in accounting

policy in connection with release

of negative goodwill – – – – – – 33 33 – 33

As restated 522 126,439 – 44,531 2,604 (142) (21,713) 152,241 (180) 152,061
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (continued)

Attributable
to equity

Share holders
Share Share option Contributed Special Translation of the Minority

capital premium reserve surplus reserve reserve Deficit Company interests Total

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Issue of shares 443 107,009 – – – – – 107,452 – 107,452

Bonus issue of shares 1,126 (1,126) – – – – – – – –

Expenses incurred in connection

with the issue of shares – (17,149) – – 12,705 – – (4,444) – (4,444)

Shares issuable upon acquisition of

– subsidiaries – – – – 34,439 – – 34,439 – 34,439

– investments in securities – – – – 1,169 – – 1,169 – 1,169

Acquisition of non-wholly owned

subsidiaries – – – – – – – – 2,356 2,356

Capital contribution by a minority

shareholder of a subsidiary – – – – – – – – 60 60

Recognition of share based payments

– as compensation to directors and

staff – – 223 – – – – 223 – 223

– upon acquisition of investment

securities – – 169 – – – – 169 – 169

Distribution of results to a joint

alliance partner – – – – – – – – (287) (287)

1,569 88,734 392 – 48,313 – – 139,008 2,129 141,137

Exchange differences arising from

translation of financial statements

of overseas operations, representing

net income recognised in equity – – – – – 12 – 12 – 12

Profit for the year – – – – – – 10,270 10,270 677 10,947

Total recognised income and expense

for the year – – – – – 12 10,270 10,282 677 10,959

At December 31, 2005 2,091 215,173 392 44,531 50,917 (130) (11,443) 301,531 2,626 304,157

The contributed surplus of the Group represents the difference between the nominal amount of the shares issued by the Company and the aggregate

amount of the share capital and share premium of the subsidiary acquired pursuant to a group reorganisation in March 2004.

The special reserve of the Group represents the shares issuable but not yet issued at the balance sheet date.
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Share
Share Share option Contributed Special

capital premium reserve surplus reserve Deficit Total

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

THE COMPANY

Arising on group reorganisation – – – 23,654 3,604 – 27,258

Issue of shares 522 131,370 – – (3,604 ) – 128,288

Expenses incurred in connection

with the issue of shares – (4,931 ) – – – – (4,931 )

Shares issuable upon acquisition

of subsidiaries – – – – 2,604 – 2,604

522 126,439 – 23,654 2,604 – 153,219

Loss for the period, representing total

recognised expense for the period – – – – – (2,754 ) (2,754 )

At December 31, 2004 522 126,439 – 23,654 2,604 (2,754 ) 150,465

Issue of shares 443 107,009 – – – – 107,452

Bonus issue of shares 1,126 (1,126 ) – – – – –

Expenses incurred in connection

with the issue of shares – (17,149 ) – – 12,705 – (4,444 )

Shares issuable upon acquisition of

– subsidiaries – – – – 34,439 – 34,439

– investment securities – – – – 1,169 – 1,169

Recognition of share based payments

– as compensation to directors and

staff – – 223 – – – 223

– upon acquisition of investment

securities – – 169 – – – 169

1,569 88,734 392 – 48,313 – 139,008

Profit for the year, representing total

recognised income for the year – – – – – 1,382 1,382

At December 31, 2005 2,091 215,173 392 23,654 50,917 (1,372 ) 290,855

The contributed surplus of the Company represents the difference between the aggregate net assets of the subsidiaries acquired by the Company

under a group reorganisation in March 2004 and the nominal amount of the Company’s shares issued for the acquisition.

The special reserve of Company represents the shares issuable but not yet issued at the balance sheet date.
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

2005 2004

US$’000 US$’000

Operating activities

Profit (loss) before taxation 13,889 (1,212)

Adjustments for:

Interest income (1,061) (186)

Interest expenses 741 498

Depreciation and amortisation 6,604 5,291

Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 45 2

Share-based payments 223 –

Obligations arisen under an onerous contract – 1,374

Investments in securities received for services (11,531) (6,052)

Gain on disposal of intangible assets (453) –

Negative goodwill released to income – (32 )

Impairment loss on intangible assets 83 –

Realised gain on investments in securities (107) –

Unrealised loss on investments in securities – 151

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes on

inter-company balances 98 (188)

Operating cash flows before movements in working capital 8,531 (354)

Increase in trade and other receivables (5,080) (3,759)

Increase in amount due from a related company (1,732) –

Increase in amount due from a director (182) –

Increase in amount due from a joint alliance partner (191) (351)

Decrease (increase) in amount due from a shareholder 458 (392)

Decrease in trade and other payables (6,244) (3,866)

(Decrease) increase in subscriptions received in advance (172) 4,355

Decrease in obligations under an onerous contract (374) –

Decrease in amounts due to a director (86) (353)

(Decrease) increase in amount due to a minority

shareholder of a subsidiary (537) 441

Decrease in amount due to a related company (30) (15 )

Decrease in amounts due to shareholders (100) (426)

Cash used in operations (5,739) (4,720)

Taxation paid (1,793) (422)

Net cash used in operating activities (7,532) (5,142)
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT (continued)

Notes 2005 2004

US$’000 US$’000

Investing activities

Interest received 1,061 186

Purchase of property, plant and equipment (3,568) (1,352)

Deposit paid for acquisition of property, plant

and equipment (132) –

Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and

equipment 37 4

Proceeds from disposal of intangible assets 6,514 –

Purchase of subsidiaries (net of cash and cash

equivalents acquired) 30 (30,168) (53,013 )

Additional consideration paid for acquisition

of subsidiaries (391) –

Purchase of investments in securities (4) (68 )

Proceeds from disposal of investments in

securities 25 –

(Deposits paid) refunded for acquisition of

subsidiaries (29,000) 1,694

Net cash used in investing activities (55,626) (52,549 )

Financing activities

Interest paid (741) (498)

Proceeds from issue of shares 83,191 84,764

Proceeds from exercise of warrants 5,000 –

Expenses incurred in connection with the issue

of shares (4,444) (4,931)

Capital contribution by a minority shareholder

of a subsidiary 60 –

Repayment of obligations under finance leases (40) (55 )

Repayment to a related company – (241)

Repayment to a shareholder (23) (141)

Repayment of notes payable – (344)

Other short-term loan repaid – (11 )

Bank loans raised 24,745 –

Repayment of bank loans (2,478) (308)

Other long-term payables (repaid) raised (836) 1,694

Net cash from financing activities 104,434 79,929

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 41,276 22,238

Cash and cash equivalents at January 1 40,449 18,142

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes (89) 69

Cash and cash equivalents at December 31 81,636 40,449

Analysis of the balances of cash and cash

equivalents

Bank balances and cash 81,636 40,449
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CASH FLOW STATEMENT

1.1.2005 1.5.2004

to 12.31.2005 to 12.31.2004

US$’000 US$’000

Operating activities

Profit (loss) before taxation 1,382 (2,754)

Adjustments for:

Interest income (158) –

Share based payments 223 –

Reversal of impairment loss on investments in subsidiaries (1,400) –

Impairment loss on investments in subsidiaries – 1,400

Operating cash flows before movements in working capital 47 (1,354)

Increase in accounts receivables (5) –

Increase in accounts payables – 63

Increase in amounts due to subsidiaries 26 277

Increase in amount due to a director 79 65

Net cash from (used in) operating activities 147 (949)

Investing activities

Interest received 158 –

Advance to subsidiaries (54,563) (26,502)

Purchase of subsidiaries (29,476) (52,382)

Net cash used in investing activities (83,881) (78,884)

Financing activities

Proceeds from issue of shares 83,191 84,764

Proceeds from exercise of warrants 5,000 –

Expenses incurred in connection with the issue of shares (4,444) (4,931)

Net cash from financing activities 83,747 79,833

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 13 –

Cash and cash equivalents at January 1 – –

Cash and cash equivalents at December 31 13 –

Analysis of the balances of cash and cash equivalents

Bank balances 13 –
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. GENERAL
The Company was incorporated on January 5, 2004 in the Cayman Islands as an exempted company with limited liability and its shares are

listed on the Mothers Board of the Tokyo Stock Exchange. It acts as an investment holding company with its subsidiaries engaged in the

provision of China-specific indices, financial news feeds, credit ratings, investor relations services, financial publishing in books and magazines

and television consulting and distribution.

These financial statements are presented in United States dollars (US$), which is the functional currency of the Company.

2. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS
In the current year, the Group has adopted all of the new and revised Standards and Interpretations issued by the International Accounting

Standards Board (the “IASB”) and the International Financing Reporting Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”) of the IASB that are relevant to

its operations and effective for accounting periods beginning on January 1, 2005. The adoption of these new and revised Standards and

Interpretations has resulted in a change in the presentation of the income statements, balance sheets and statements of changes in equity. In

particular, the presentation of minority interests has been changed. The changes in presentation have been applied retrospectively. The

adoption of the new and revised Standards and Interpretations has resulted in changes to the Group’s accounting policies in the following

areas that have affected the amounts reported for the current or prior years.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

In the current year, the Group has applied International Financial Reporting Standard (“IFRS”) 2 “Share-based payment” which requires an

expense to be recognised where the Group buys goods or obtains services in exchange for shares or rights over shares, or in exchange for

other assets equivalent in value to a given number of shares or rights over shares. The principal impact of IFRS 2 on the Group is in relation to

the expensing of the fair value of share options granted to directors and employees of the Company, determined at the date of grant of the

share options, over the vesting period. Prior to the application of IFRS 2, the Group did not recognise the financial effect of these share

options until they were exercised. The Group has applied IFRS 2 to share options granted on or after January 1, 2005. However, the Group is

still required to apply IFRS 2 retrospectively to share options that were granted after November 7, 2002 and had not yet vested on January 1,

2005.

The adoption of IFRS 2 had no material effect on the Group’s and the Company’s results for 2004. For 2005, the impact of share-based

payments is a charge to the income statement of US$223,000 for the Group and for the Company. The share-based payment expense has

been included in the administrative expenses in the income statement.
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The Group has not early applied the following new Standards and Interpretations that have been issued but not yet effective:

International Accounting Capital disclosures1

Standard (“IAS”) 1 (Amendment)

IAS 19 (Amendment) Actuarial gains and losses, group plans and disclosures2

IAS 21 (Amendment) New investment in a foreign operation2

IAS 39 (Amendment) Cash flow hedges of forecast intragroup transactions2

IAS 39 (Amendment) The fair value option2

IAS 39 and IFRS 4 Financial guarantee contracts2

(Amendment)

IFRS 6 Exploration for and evaluation of mineral resources1

IFRS 7 Financial instruments: Disclosures1

IFRIC 4 Determining whether an arrangement contains a lease2

IFRIC 5 Right to interests arising from decommissioning, restoration

and environmental rehabilitation funds2

IFRIC 6 Liabilities arising from participating in a specific

market-waste electrical and electronic equipment3

IFRIC 7 Applying the restatement approach under IAS 29

Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies4

IFRIC 8 Scope of IFRS25

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2007.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2006.

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after December 1, 2005.

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after March 1, 2006.

5 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after May 1, 2006.

The directors anticipate that the adoption of these Standards and Interpretations in the future periods will have no material impact on the

financial statements of the Group.

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, except for certain financial instruments which are measured

at fair values, and in accordance with IFRS.

The principal accounting policies adopted are as follows:

BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and enterprises controlled by the Company (its

subsidiaries) made up to December 31 each year. Control is achieved where the Company has the power to govern the financial and operating

policies of an investee enterprise so as to obtain benefits from its activities.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated income statement from the effective date

of acquisition or up to the effective date of disposal, as appropriate.

All significant intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses are eliminated on consolidation.

Minority interests in the net assets of consolidated subsidiaries are presented separately from the Group’s equity therein. Minority interests in

the net assets consist of the amount of those interests at the date of the original business combination and the minority’s share of changes in

equity since the date of the combination. Losses applicable to the minority in excess of the minority’s interest in the subsidiary’s equity are

allocated against the interests of the Group except to the extent that the minority has a binding obligation and is able to make an additional

investment to cover the losses.
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GOODWILL

In 2004, the Group adopted IFRS 3 “Business combinations” for business combinations in which the agreement date was on or after March

31, 2004. For business combinations which the agreement date was before March 31, 2004, goodwill/negative goodwill arising on those

acquisitions was accounted for in accordance with IAS 22 “Business combinations”. Under IAS 22, goodwill represents the excess of the cost

of the acquisition over the Group’s interest in the fair value of identifiable assets and liabilities of a subsidiary at the date of acquisition and is

stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. IFRS 3 requires goodwill arising from acquisitions to be

determined as the excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and

contingent liabilities on the date of acquisition. After initial recognition, IFRS 3 requires goodwill to be carried at cost less accumulated

impairment losses.

In the current year, the Group has applied the transitional provision of IFRS 3 to goodwill acquired in business combinations for which

agreement date was before March 31, 2004. At January 1, 2005, the carrying amount of accumulated amortisation of US$1,030,000 has been

eliminated, with a corresponding decrease in goodwill. From January 1, 2005, the Group has discontinued amortising such goodwill and has

tested the goodwill for impairment in accordance with IAS 36 (Revised) “Impairment of assets”. Had the Group’s previous accounting policy

been applied in the current year, an amortisation of US$987,000 would have been charged to the income statement.

Under the transitional provision of IFRS 3, the carrying amount of negative goodwill at January 1, 2005 is derecognised on January 1, 2005.

An adjustment of US$33,000 is made to the opening deficit at January 1, 2005. Under the previous accounting policy, US$33,000 of negative

goodwill would have been released to the income statement in the current year.

Capitalised goodwill arising on the acquisition of subsidiaries is presented separately in the balance sheet.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill arising from an acquisition is allocated to each of the relevant cash-generating units, or

groups of cash-generating units, that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the acquisition. A cash-generating unit to which goodwill

has been allocated is tested for impairment annually, and whenever there is an indication that the unit may be impaired. For goodwill arising

on an acquisition in a financial year, the cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment before the end of

that financial year. When the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less than the carrying amount of the unit, the impairment loss

is allocated to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit first, and then to the other assets of the unit pro-rata on the

basis of the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. Any impairment loss for goodwill is recognised directly in the income statement. An

impairment loss for goodwill is not reversed in the subsequent periods.

On subsequent disposal of a subsidiary, the attributable amount of goodwill is included in the determination of the amount of profit or loss

on disposal.

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

Investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less any identified impairment loss in the Company’s financial statements.

INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are incorporated in these financial statements using the equity method of accounting. Under

the equity method, investments in associates are carried in the consolidated balance sheet at cost as adjusted for post-acquisition changes in

the Group’s share of the net assets of the associate, less any identified impairment loss. When the Group’s share of losses of an associate

equals or exceeds its interest in that associate (which includes any long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the Group’s net

investment in the associate), the Group discontinues recognising its share of further losses. An additional share of losses is provided for and a

liability is recognised only to the extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of that

associate.
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Where a group entity transacts with an associate of the Group, profits and losses are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest in the

relevant associate.

REVENUE RECOGNITION

Revenue from subscription based real-time and historical information services is recognised on a straight line basis over the period of the

subscription.

Service and solutions and consulting revenue is recognised when the services are provided.

Interest income from a financial asset is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and at the effective interest rate

applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to that

asset’s net carrying amount.

Revenue from sale of publications is recognised when the products are delivered and title has passed to distributors or dealers and the Group

retains no significant obligation.

Distribution fee income is recognised when the master materials have been delivered.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT COSTS

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans, state-managed retirement benefit schemes and the Mandatory Provident Fund

Scheme are charged as an expense as they fall due.

LEASES

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to the

lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

Assets held under finance leases are recognised as assets of the Group at their fair value at the date of inception or, if lower, at the present

value of the minimum lease payments. The corresponding liability to the lessor is included in the balance sheet as a finance lease obligation.

Lease payments are apportioned between finance charges and reduction of the lease obligation so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on

the remaining balance of the liability. Finance charges are charged directly against income, unless they are directly attributable to qualifying

assets, in which case they are capitalised in accordance with the Group’s general policy on borrowing costs.

Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to income on a straight line basis over the period of the respective leases. Benefits

received and receivable as an incentive to enter into an operating lease are recognised as a reduction of rental expense over the lease term on

a straight line basis.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any recognised impairment loss.

The cost of leasehold improvements is depreciated over three years using the straight line method or over the remaining period of the relevant

lease, whichever is shorter.
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Depreciation is provided to write off the cost of other property, plant and equipment, using the straight line method, over the following

estimated useful lives:

Computer equipment 1 – 7 years

Furniture, fixtures and equipment 4 – 10 years

Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over their expected useful lives on the same basis as owned assets or, where shorter, the term

of the relevant lease.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise from the

continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference between the net disposal

proceeds and the carrying amount of the item) is included in the income statement in the year in which the item is derecognised.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

On initial recognition, intangible assets acquired separately and from business combinations are recognised at cost and at fair value

respectively. After initial recognition, intangible assets with finite useful lives are carried at costs less accumulated amortisation and any

accumulated impairment losses/revalued amounts, being their fair value at the date of the revaluation less subsequent accumulated

amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful lives is provided on a straight line

basis over their estimated useful lives.

Intangible assets with finite useful lives are tested for impairment when there is an indication that an asset may be impaired.

Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset are measured at the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the

carrying amount of the asset and are recognised in the income statement when the asset is derecognised.

ONEROUS CONTRACT

An onerous contract is a contract in which the unavoidable costs of meeting the obligations under the contract exceed the economic benefits

expected to be received under it. The present obligation under the contract shall be recognised and measured as a provision.

IMPAIRMENT (OTHER THAN GOODWILL)

At each balance sheet date, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its assets to determine whether there is any indication that those

assets have suffered an impairment loss. If the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying

amount of the asset is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised as an expense immediately, unless the relevant

asset is carried at a revalued amount under another Standard, in which case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease under

that Standard.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable

amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no

impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised as income immediately, unless the

relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount under another Standard, in which case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a

revaluation increase under that Standard.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the balance sheet when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions

of the instrument. Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to

the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit

or loss) are added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.

Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are

recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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Financial assets

The Group’s financial assets are classified into one of the three categories, including financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans

and receivables and available-for-sale financial assets. All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised

on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time

frame established by regulation or convention in the marketplace. The accounting policies adopted in respect of each category of financial

assets are set out below.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss has two subcategories, including financial assets held for trading and those designated at

fair value through profit or loss on initial recognition. At each balance sheet date subsequent to initial recognition, financial assets at fair

value through profit or loss are measured at fair value, with changes in fair value recognised directly in profit or loss in the period in which

they arise.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. At each

balance sheet date subsequent to initial recognition, loans and receivables (including trade and other receivables, amount due from a related

company, amount due from a director, amount due from a joint alliance partner and amount due from a shareholder) are carried at amortised

cost using the effective interest method, less any identified impairment losses. An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss when there is

objective evidence that the asset is impaired, and is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of

the estimated future cash flows discounted at the original effective interest rate. Impairment losses are reversed in subsequent periods when

an increase in the asset’s recoverable amount can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, subject to

a restriction that the carrying amount of the asset at the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost would have

been had the impairment not been recognised.

Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives that are either designated or not classified as any of the other categories (set out above).

At each balance sheet date subsequent to initial recognition, available-for-sale financial assets are measured at fair value. Changes in fair

value are recognised in equity, until the financial asset is disposed of or is determined to be impaired, at which time, the cumulative gain or

loss previously recognised in equity is removed from equity and recognised in profit or loss. Any impairment losses on available-for-sale

financial assets are recognised in profit or loss. Impairment losses on available-for-sale equity investments will not reverse in subsequent

periods. For available-for-sale debt investments, impairment losses are subsequently reversed if an increase in the fair value of the investment

can be objectively related to an event occurring after the recognition of the impairment loss.

For available-for-sale equity investments that do not have a quoted market price in an active market and whose fair value cannot be reliably

measured and derivatives that are linked to and must be settled by delivery of such unquoted equity instruments, they are measured at cost

less any identified impairment losses at each balance sheet date subsequent to initial recognition. An impairment loss is recognised in profit or

loss when there is objective evidence that the asset is impaired. The amount of the impairment loss is measured as the difference between the

carrying amount of the asset and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the current market rate of return for a

similar financial asset. Such impairment losses will not reverse in subsequent periods.

Financial liabilities and equity

Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by a group entity are classified according to the substance of the contractual arrangements

entered into and the definition of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all of its liabilities. The

accounting policies adopted in respect of financial liabilities and equity instruments are set out below.
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Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss has two subcategories, including financial liabilities held for trading and those

designated at fair value through profit or loss on initial recognition. At each balance sheet date subsequent to initial recognition, financial

liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are measured at fair value, with changes in fair value recognised directly in profit or loss in the

period in which they arise.

Other financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities including bank loans, trade and other payables, consideration payable for acquisition and other long-term payables

are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method.

EQUITY INSTRUMENTS

Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

DERIVATIVES THAT DO NOT QUALIFY FOR HEDGE ACCOUNTING

Derivatives that do not qualify for hedge accounting are classified as financial assets held for trading or financial liabilities held for trading.

Changes in fair values of such derivatives are recognised directly in profit or loss.

PROVISIONS

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation as a result of a past event, and it is probable that the Group will be

required to settle that obligation. Provisions are measured at the directors’ best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the obligation at

the balance sheet date, and are discounted to present value where the effect is material.

TAXATION

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit as reported in the income statement because

it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes items that are never taxable or

deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance

sheet date.

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial statements and the

corresponding tax base used in the computation of taxable profit, and is accounted for using the balance sheet liability method. Deferred tax

liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable

that taxable profits will be available against which deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not

recognised if the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of other

assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and associates except where the

Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the

foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that

sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the asset realised. Deferred

tax is charged or credited to profit or loss, except when it relates to items charged or credited directly to equity, in which case the deferred tax

is also dealt with in equity.



Report and Financial Statements under IFRS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2005

Xi nhua Fi nance Annual Repor t  2005

87

FOREIGN CURRENCIES

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional currency of that

entity (foreign currencies) are recorded in its functional currency (i.e. the currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity

operates) at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At each balance sheet date, monetary items denominated in

foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the balance sheet date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are

denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary

items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not re-translated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and on the translation of monetary items, are recognised in profit or loss in

the period in which they arise. Exchange differences arising on the retranslation of non-monetary items carried at fair value are included in

profit or loss for the period except for differences arising on the retranslation of non-monetary items in respect of which gains and losses are

recognised directly in equity, in which cases, the exchange differences are also recognised directly in equity.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign operations are translated

into US$, which is the functional currency of the Company, at the rate of exchange prevailing at the balance sheet date, and their income and

expenses are translated at the average exchange rates for the year, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during the period, in which

case, the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of transactions are used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised as a separate

component of equity (the translation reserve). Such exchange differences are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which the foreign

operation is disposed of.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets acquired arising on an acquisition of a foreign operation are treated as assets and

liabilities of that foreign operation and translated at the rate of exchange prevailing at the balance sheet date. Exchange differences arising

are recognised in the translation reserve.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on acquisitions of foreign operations prior to January 1, 2005 are treated as non-monetary foreign

currency items of the acquirer and reported using the historical exchange rate prevailing at the date of the acquisition.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

Share options granted to employees of the Group

The fair value of services received determined by reference to the fair value of share options granted at the grant date is expensed on a

straight line basis over the vesting period, with a corresponding increase in equity (share option reserve).

Share options granted to suppliers/consultants

Share options issued in exchange for goods or services are measured at the fair values of the goods or services received. The fair values of the

goods or services received are recognised immediately as expenses, unless the goods or services qualify for recognition as assets.

Corresponding adjustment has been made to equity (share option reserve).

At the time when the share options are exercised, the amount previously recognised in share option reserve will be transferred to share

premium. If the share options remain unexercised at the expiry date, the amount previously recognised in share option reserve will be

transferred to retained profits.
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENT AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY
In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, which are described in Note 3 above, management had made the following

judgements that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements.

ESTIMATED IMPAIRMENT OF GOODWILL

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation of the value in use of the cash-generating units to which goodwill has been

allocated. The value in use calculation requires the Group to estimate the future cash flows expected to arise from the cash-generating unit

and a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value. Where the actual future cash flows are less than expected, a material

impairment loss may arise. As at December 31, 2005, the carrying amount of goodwill is US$209,470,000. Details of the recoverable amount

calculation are disclosed in Note 14.

TRADE RECEIVABLES

Note 3 describes that trade receivables are measured at initial recognition at fair value, and are subsequently measured at amortised cost using

the effective interest rate method. Appropriate allowances for estimated irrecoverable amounts are recognised in profit and loss when there is

objective evidence that the asset is impaired.

In making the judgement, management considered detailed procedures have been in place to monitor this risk as a significant proportion of

the Group’s working capital is devoted to trade receivables. In determining whether allowance for bad and doubtful debts is required, the

Group takes into consideration the ageing status and the likelihood of collection. Following the identification of doubtful debts, the

responsible sales personnel discuss with the relevant customers and report on the recoverability. Specific allowance is only made for trade

receivables that are unlikely to be collected. In this regard, the directors of the Company are satisfied that this risk is minimal and adequate

allowance for doubtful debts has been made in the financial statements in light of the historical records of the Group and the circumstances

of the industry as a whole.

ESTIMATED USEFUL LIFE OF PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

As at December 31, 2005, the carrying amount of the Group’s property, plant and equipment is US$6,270,000. The estimated useful life of

the assets reflects the directors’ estimate of the periods that the Group intends to derive future economic benefits from the use of the Group’s

property, plant and equipment.

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
The Group’s major financial instruments include investments in securities, trade receivables, bank balances and cash, trade payables,

consideration payable for acquisition and bank loans. The Company’s major financial instruments comprise amounts due from subsidiaries

only. Details of these financial instruments are disclosed in respective notes. The risks associated with these financial instruments and the

policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out below. The management manages and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate

measures are implemented on a timely and effective manner.

CURRENCY RISK

Several subsidiaries of the Company have foreign currency sales and certain trade receivables of the Group are denominated in foreign

currencies, which expose the Group to foreign currency risk. The Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging policy. In order to

mitigate the foreign currency risk, management closely monitors such risks and will consider hedging significant foreign currency exposure

should the need arises.

CREDIT RISK

The Group’s financial assets are investments in securities, trade and other receivables, amount due from a related company, amount due from

a director, amount due from a joint alliance partner, amount due from a shareholder and bank balances and cash, which represent the Group’s

maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to financial assets.
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The Company’s financial assets are accounts receivable, amount due from subsidiaries and bank balances, which represent the Company’s

maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to financial assets.

In order to minimise the credit risk in relation to trade receivables, the management of the Group has delegated a team responsible for

determination of credit limits, credit approvals and other monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue

debts. In addition, the Group reviews the recoverable amount of each individual trade debt at each balance sheet date to ensure that

adequate impairment losses are made for irrecoverable amounts. In this regard, the directors of the Company consider that the Group’s credit

risk is significantly reduced. The amounts presented in the balance sheet are net of allowances for doubtful receivables, if any, estimated by

the Group’s management based on prior experience and their assessment of the current economic environment.

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because majority of the counterparties are banks with high credit-ratings assigned by international

credit-rating agencies.

The Group has no significant concentration of credit risk for its trade receivables, with exposure spread over a large number of counterparties

and customers.
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION

BUSINESS SEGMENTS

For management purposes, the Group is currently organised into three main operating divisions namely provision of news and financial

information, provision of service and solutions and provision of financial media. These divisions are the basis on which the Group reports its

primary segment information.

An analysis of the Group’s revenue and results by business segments is as follows:

2005 2004

US$’000 US$’000

Revenue Results Revenue Results

Business segments

– provision of news and financial

information 64,144 8,550 36,137 2,343

– provision of services and solutions 40,150 9,187 23,553 2,826

– provision of financial media 5,716 2,752 – –

110,010 20,489 59,690 5,169

Realised gain on investments in

securities 107 –

Interest income 1,061 186

Unrealised loss on investments in

securities – (151)

Unallocated corporate expenses (7,027) (5,918)

Profit (loss) from operations 14,630 (714)

Finance costs (741) (498)

Profit (loss) before taxation 13,889 (1,212)

Taxation (2,942) 155

Profit (loss) for the year 10,947 (1,057)
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An analysis of the Group’s balance sheet by business segments is as follows:

2005 2004

US$’000 US$’000

Assets

Segment assets

– provision of news and financial information 42,445 36,613

– provision of service and solutions 202,530 120,711

– provision of financial media 32,853 –

Unallocated corporate assets 106,595 47,664

384,423 204,988

Liabilities

Segment liabilities

– provision of news and financial information 18,350 17,538

– provision of service and solutions 12,891 8,846

– provision of financial media 2,227 –

Unallocated corporate liabilities 46,798 26,576

80,266 52,960

Other information

Capital additions

– provision of news and financial information 54,801 83,348

– provision of service and solutions 34,302 54,320

– provision of financial media 4,884 –

93,987 137,668

Depreciation and amortisation

– provision of news and financial information 4,856 3,776

– provision of service and solutions 1,712 1,515

– provision of financial media 36 –

6,604 5,291

Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment

– provision of news and financial information 26 –

– provision of service and solutions 17 2

– provision of financial media 2 –

45 2

Impairment loss on intangible assets

– provision of news and financial information 83 –
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GEOGRAPHICAL SEGMENTS

The Group’s operation is located in Asia, United States of America (“US”) and Europe. The Group’s news and financial information business is

carried out in Asia and US. The service and solutions business is carried out in Asia, US and Europe. The financial media business is carried out

in Asia.

The following table provides an analysis of the Group’s revenue by geographical market, irrespective of the origin of the services:

2005 2004

US$’000 US$’000

Revenue Revenue

Asia (excluding Japan) 17,381 11,994

US 64,912 33,021

Japan 7,894 5,075

Europe 18,718 9,448

Others 1,105 152

110,010 59,690

The following is an analysis of the Group’s carrying amount of segment assets and capital additions to property, plant and equipment and

intangible assets analysed by the geographical market to which the assets are located:

2005 2004 2005 2004

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Carrying Carrying
amount of amount of Capital Capital

segment assets segment assets additions additions

Asia (excluding Japan) 220,866 118,197 14,849 27,662

US 151,058 78,488 55,456 76,160

Japan 2,497 2,675 6,745 11,706

Europe 9,191 5,393 15,992 21,792

Others 811 235 945 348

384,423 204,988 93,987 137,668

The Company’s revenue for the year represents group service fee received and receivable from group companies. The group service fee income

was charged to group companies as the Company performed certain administrative services for the group companies being an appropriate

allocation of costs incurred by the Company plus a certain percentage of mark up.
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7. PROFIT (LOSS) FROM OPERATIONS

THE GROUP THE COMPANY

1.1.2005 1.1.2004 1.1.2005 1.5.2004
to to to to

12.31.2005 12.31.2004 12.31.2005 12.31.2004

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Profit (loss) from operations has been

arrived at after charging:

Directors’ remuneration

– fees 900 60 900 –

– retirement benefits scheme

contributions 3 5 3 2

– other emoluments 59 774 59 545

962 839 962 547

Other staff’s retirement benefits

scheme contributions 527 285 3 1

Other staff costs 37,160 23,937 391 162

Share-based payments 223 – 223 –

Total staff costs 38,872 25,061 1,579 710

Amortisation of goodwill – 860 – –

Amortisation of intangible assets 4,664 3,342 – –

Depreciation of property, plant and

equipment

– owned by the Group 1,904 1,038 – –

– held under finance leases 36 51 – –

Loss on disposal of property, plant

and equipment 45 2 – –

Operating lease rentals in respect of

land and buildings 3,703 2,657 – –

and after crediting:

Exchange gain 1,061 120 – –

Gain on disposal of intangible assets 453 – – –

Interest income 1,061 186 158 –

Negative goodwill released to income

(included in other income) – 32 – –

Realised gain on investments in

securities 107 – – –
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8. FINANCE COSTS

THE GROUP THE COMPANY

1.1.2005 1.1.2004 1.1.2005 1.5.2004
to to to to

12.31.2005 12.31.2004 12.31.2005 12.31.2004

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Interest on

– bank and other borrowings wholly

repayable within five years (732) (484) (35) (363)

– finance leases (9) (8 ) – –

– loan from a related company – (3 ) – –

– loan from a shareholder – (3 ) – –

(741) (498) (35) (363)

9. TAXATION

THE GROUP THE COMPANY

1.1.2005 1.1.2004 1.1.2005 1.5.2004
to to to to

12.31.2005 12.31.2004 12.31.2005 12.31.2004

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Hong Kong Profits Tax calculated at

17.5% on the estimated assessable

profit for the year/period (106) (2 ) – –

Overseas taxation (3,096) 204 – –

(3,202) 202 – –

Deferred taxation 260 (47) – –

(2,942) 155 – –

Overseas taxation is calculated at the rates prevailing in the respective jurisdictions.
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Taxation for the year/period is reconciled to the profit (loss) before taxation as follows:

THE GROUP THE COMPANY

1.1.2005 1.1.2004 1.1.2005 1.5.2004
to to to to

12.31.2005 12.31.2004 12.31.2005 12.31.2004

US$’000 % US$’000 % US$’000 % US$’000 %

Profit (loss) before taxation 13,889 (1,212) 1,382 (2,754)

Tax at the applicable

income tax rate (2,430) (17.5) 212 17.5 (242) (17.5) 482 17.5

Tax effect of expenses

not deductible

for tax purposes (2,345) (16.9) (832) (68.6 ) (60) (4.3) (247) (9.0 )

Tax effect of income

not taxable for

tax purposes 2,901 20.9 222 18.3 245 17.7 – –

Tax effect of unrecognised

tax losses (197) (1.4) (942) (77.7 ) – – (235) (8.5 )

Tax effect on utilisation

of tax losses not previously

recognised 783 5.6 878 72.4 57 4.1 – –

Effect of different tax rates of

subsidiaries operating in

other jurisdictions (1,546) (11.1) 620 51.1 – – – –

Others (108) (0.8) (3 ) (0.2 ) – – – –

Tax effect and effective tax rate

for the year/period (2,942) (21.2) 155 12.8 – – – –
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10. EARNINGS (LOSS) PER SHARE
The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the Company is based on the

following data:

THE GROUP THE COMPANY

1.1.2005 1.1.2004 1.1.2005 1.5.2004
to to to to

12.31.2005 12.31.2004 12.31.2005 12.31.2004

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Profit (loss) for calculating basic

and diluted earnings (loss) per share 10,270 (1,420) 1,382 (2,754)

THE GROUP

AND THE COMPANY

Number of shares

12.31.2005 12.31.2004

Weighted average number of ordinary shares

for the purpose of calculating basic earnings

(loss) per share 662,085 268,590

Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares

– warrants 5,838

– options 6,596

12,434

Weighted average number of shares for the purpose of

calculating diluted earnings per share 674,519

The weighted average number of shares in 2004 has been adjusted on the assumption that the 2000 for 1 share consolidation in August 2004

and the Bonus issue in August 2005 (as detailed in Note 27(d)) had been effective on January 1, 2004.

No diluted loss per share has been presented for the Group or the Company in 2004, because the exercise of the options would result in a

decrease in the loss per share.
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11. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Furniture,
Computer fixtures and Leasehold

equipment equipment improvements Total

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

THE GROUP

COST

At January 1, 2004 548 347 205 1,100

Currency realignment 30 25 1 56

Acquired on acquisition of

subsidiaries 2,291 391 290 2,972

Additions 1,228 101 40 1,369

Disposals (181 ) (5 ) (7 ) (193)

At December 31, 2004 3,916 859 529 5,304

Currency realignment 2 4 1 7

Acquired on acquisition of

subsidiaries 212 537 216 965

Additions 2,565 342 692 3,599

Disposals (215 ) (350) (15) (580)

At December 31, 2005 6,480 1,392 1,423 9,295

DEPRECIATION

At January 1, 2004 243 216 174 633

Currency realignment 22 19 1 42

Provided for the year 892 124 73 1,089

Eliminated on disposals (178 ) (5 ) (4 ) (187)

At December 31, 2004 979 354 244 1,577

Currency realignment 2 4 – 6

Provided for the year 1,348 308 284 1,940

Eliminated on disposals (205 ) (281) (12) (498)

At December 31, 2005 2,124 385 516 3,025

NET BOOK VALUES

At December 31, 2005 4,356 1,007 907 6,270

At December 31, 2004 2,937 505 285 3,727

At the balance sheet date, the net book value of furniture, fixtures and equipment held under finance leases by the Group was US$76,000

(2004: US$81,000).
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12. INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES

THE COMPANY

2005 2004

US$’000 US$’000

Unlisted shares, at cost 207,189 140,990

Less: Impairment loss – (1,400)

207,189 139,590

In 2005, reversal of impairment loss was recognised based on the recoverable amounts of subsidiaries which exceeded the cost of investment,

determined by the estimated discounted net future cash flows from these subsidiaries using a discount rate of 8%.

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries at December 31, 2005 are set out in Note 38.

13. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Brand Brand
name and name

distribution license Customer Customer Information
right rights base list database Trademarks Total

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

THE GROUP

COST

At January 1, 2004 1,100 207 – – – – 1,307

Acquired on acquisition

of subsidiaries – – 3,482 437 5,995 3,870 13,784

At December 31, 2004 1,100 207 3,482 437 5,995 3,870 15,091

Disposals – – (3,482 ) (437 ) (5,995 ) (3,870 ) (13,784 )

At December 31, 2005 1,100 207 – – – – 1,307

AMORTISATION AND IMPAIRMENT

At January 1, 2004 200 41 – – – – 241

Amortised for the year 100 41 678 68 1,724 731 3,342

At December 31, 2004 300 82 678 68 1,724 731 3,583

Amortised for the year 100 42 969 97 2,479 977 4,664

Impairment loss – 83 – – – – 83

Eliminated on disposals – – (1,647 ) (165 ) (4,203 ) (1,708 ) (7,723 )

At December 31, 2005 400 207 – – – – 607

CARRYING AMOUNTS

At December 31, 2005 700 – – – – – 700

At December 31, 2004 800 125 2,804 369 4,271 3,139 11,508
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The intangible assets have finite useful lives and are amortised on a straight line basis over their estimated useful lives as follows:

Brand name and distribution right 11 years

Brand name license rights 5 years

Customer base 5 years

Customer list 5 years

Information database 4 years

Trademarks 5 years

14. GOODWILL

US$’000

THE GROUP

COST

At January 1, 2004 4,340

Arising on acquisition of subsidiaries 119,190

Arising on acquisition of additional interest in a subsidiary 353

At December 31, 2004 123,883

Elimination of accumulated amortisation upon adoption of IFRS 3 (1,030)

At January 1, 2005 122,853

Arising on acquisition of subsidiaries 86,154

Additional consideration for acquisition of subsidiaries 463

At December 31, 2005 209,470

AMORTISATION

At January 1, 2004 170

Amortised for the year 860

At December 31, 2004 1,030

Elimination of accumulated amortisation upon adoption of IFRS 3 (1,030)

At January 1, 2005 and December 31, 2005 –

CARRYING AMOUNT

At December 31, 2005 209,470

At December 31, 2004 122,853

Until December 31, 2004 goodwill arising from business combinations with agreement date before March 31, 2004 had been amortised over

its estimated useful life of 20 years.
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Goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated to the following cash generating units (“CGUs”) that are expected to benefit from

the respective business combinations:

THE GROUP

2005 2004

US$’000 US$’000

Production of database and analysis 73,993 74,409

Production of other analysis 116,143 48,444

Production of financial media 19,334 –

209,470 122,853

The production of database and analysis comprised Mergent Inc. only and the production of financial media comprised EconWorld Media

Limited and Beijing Century Media Culture Co., Ltd. The production of other analysis comprised the remaining subsidiaries.

During the year, the Group performed an impairment review for goodwill based on cash flow forecasts derived from the most recent financial

budgets for the next five years approved by management using a discount rate of 8%. No impairment loss was considered necessary.

The recoverable amounts of the CGUs are determined from value in use calculations. The key assumptions for the value in use calculations are

those regarding the discount rates, growth rates and expected changes to selling prices and direct costs during the year. Management

estimates discount rates using pre-tax rates that reflect current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the

CGUs. The growth rates are based on industry growth forecasts. Changes in selling prices and direct costs are based on past practices and

managements expectations of future changes in the market.

15. NEGATIVE GOODWILL

US$’000

THE GROUP

GROSS AMOUNT

At January 1, 2004 and December 31, 2004 (98 )

RELEASED TO INCOME

At January 1, 2004 33

Released in the year 32

At December 31, 2004 65

CARRYING AMOUNT

At December 31, 2004 (33 )

Derecognised upon adoption of IFRS 3 33

At January 1, 2005 and December 31, 2005 –
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16. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE

THE GROUP

2005 2004

US$’000 US$’000

Share of net assets 223 –

The investment represents the Group’s 40% equity interest in 寧波遠資信評估有限公司 (Ning Bo Far East Credit Rating Co., Ltd.) which was

established in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) as a limited liability joint venture company. Its principal activity is credit rating and

consultancy services. The associate is acquired through acquisition of a subsidiary during the year.

17. INVESTMENTS IN SECURITIES

THE GROUP

2005 2004

US$’000 US$’000

Loans and receivables

Unlisted debt securities of a PRC company 618 –

Available-for-sale investments

Listed equity securities in the PRC 145 –

Unlisted trust funds, at cost 880 –

Unlisted equity securities, at cost 23,208 68

24,088 68

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Options and warrants of US listed companies – 10,151

24,851 10,219

Unlisted debt securities of a PRC company (the “Debt securities”) are interest bearing at People’s Bank of China one-year fixed deposit rate

plus 3% and will mature in March 2010. The Debt securities are denominated in Renminbi (“RMB”). The fair value of the debt securities

approximates their carrying value.

Unlisted equity securities and trust funds are measured at cost less impairment at each balance sheet date as the range of reasonable fair

value estimates is so significant that the directors of the Company are of the opinion that their fair values cannot be measured reliably.

Listed equity securities in the PRC are fair valued based on quoted market prices and are denominated in RMB.

In 2004, Doherty & Company, LLC, an independent valuer, valued the options and warrants at an average discount rate of 3.56% and issued

the valuation report on December 31, 2004. The Company accepted such report and used the valuation amount as the fair value of the

options and warrants at December 31, 2004.
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18. PAYMENT DEPOSIT FOR ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES
The amount represents deposit paid for acquisition of subsidiaries, which the Group has no control over as at balance sheet date.

The capital commitment in relation to the deposit paid in the current year is detailed in Note 33. The acquisition was subsequently completed

in January 2006 as detailed in Note 37.

19. DEFERRED TAXATION
Movements of the deferred tax assets recognised by the Group are as follows:

Subscription Allowance
Accelerated revenue for bad and

tax received doubtful
depreciation in advance debts Others Total

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

THE GROUP

At January 1, 2004 – – – – –

Arising on acquisition of

subsidiaries (6 ) 425 (126) 9 302

(Charge) credit to income

statement for the year (38 ) (210) 75 126 (47)

At December 31, 2004 (44 ) 215 (51) 135 255

Arising on acquisition of

subsidiaries 11 – – 250 261

Credit to income statement

for the year 32 100 38 90 260

At December 31, 2005 (1 ) 315 (13) 475 776

At the balance sheet date, the Group and the Company have unutilised tax losses of US$18,073,000 (2004: US$21,421,000) and

US$1,017,000 (2004: US$1,341,000) respectively, available for offset against future profits. No deferred tax asset has been recognised in

respect of the unutilised tax losses due to the unpredictability of future profit streams. Included in the Group’s unrecognised tax losses are tax

losses of US$9,294,000 (2004: US$9,770,000) which will expire gradually up to 2024. Other tax losses may be carried forward indefinitely.

The Company’s tax losses may be carried forward indefinitely.

20. FINANCIAL ASSETS
THE GROUP

The amount due from a related company, amount due from a director, amount due from a joint alliance partner and amount due from a

shareholder are unsecured, interest-free and are repayable on demand.

The directors consider the carrying amounts of trade and other receivables, amount due from a related company, amount due from a director,

amount due from a joint alliance partner, amount due from a shareholder and bank balances and cash approximate to their fair values.

THE COMPANY

The amounts due from subsidiaries are unsecured and interest-free except for an amount of US$2,466,000 which carries interest at the

prevailing market rate. The amounts are repayable in 2005 except for an amount of US$1,556,000 which is repayable in 2006.

The directors consider the carrying amount of accounts receivables, amount due from subsidiaries and bank balances approximate to their fair

values.
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21. FINANCIAL LIABILITIES
THE GROUP

The amount due to a minority shareholder of a subsidiary and amount due to a shareholder are unsecured, interest-free and are repayable on

demand. The other long term payables are unsecured, not repayable within twelve months from the balance sheet date and interest-free

except for an amount of US$667,000, which carries interest at prevailing market rate.

The loan from a shareholder was unsecured, carried interest at prevailing market rate and was repayable on demand.

The short-term bank loans are unsecured, carry interest at prevailing market rate and are repayable in 2005.

The directors consider the carrying amounts of trade and other payables, consideration payable for acquisition, amount due to a director,

amount due to a minority shareholder of a subsidiary, amount due to a shareholder, loan from a shareholder and short-term bank loans

approximate to their fair values.

THE COMPANY

The amount due to a director and amounts due to subsidiaries are unsecured, interest-free and are repayable on demand.

The directors consider that the carrying amounts of accounts payables, consideration payable for acquisition, amounts due to subsidiaries and

amount due to a director approximate to their fair values.

22. CONSIDERATION PAYABLE FOR ACQUISITION

THE GROUP THE COMPANY

2005 2004 2005 2004

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

The consideration payable is payable

as follows:

Within one year 10,952 20,138 9,702 19,788

Between one to two years 5,585 1,250 5,585 –

Between two to three years 2,788 – 2,788 –

19,325 21,388 18,075 19,788

Less: Amount due within one year

shown under current liabilities 10,952 20,138 9,702 19,788

Amount due after one year 8,373 1,250 8,373 –

At the balance sheet date, all the assets of a subsidiary with carrying value of approximately US$2,569,000 (2004: US$2,027,000) and the

entire issued capital of that subsidiary were pledged to the seller of that subsidiary to secure certain consideration payable for acquisition of

US$1,250,000 (2004 US$1,600,000), which are interest bearing at prevailing market rates.
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23. OBLIGATIONS UNDER AN ONEROUS CONTRACT

THE GROUP

2005 2004

US$’000 US$’000

The obligations are payable as follows:

Within one year 375 375

Between one to two years 375 375

Between two to five years 250 624

1,000 1,374

Less: Amount due within one year shown under

current liabilities 375 375

Amount due after one year 625 999

The obligations represent lease payments related to the closure of certain overseas facilities.

24. OBLIGATIONS UNDER FINANCE LEASES

THE GROUP

Present value
Minimum of minimum

lease payments lease payments

2005 2004 2005 2004

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Amounts payable under finance leases:

Within one year 35 46 29 37

Between one to two years 10 30 9 24

Between two to five years 17 2 16 2

62 78 54 63

Less: Future finance charges 8 15 – –

Present value of lease obligations 54 63 54 63

Less: Amount due within one year

shown under current liabilities 29 37

Amount due after one year 25 26

The fair value of lease obligations approximates their carrying value.



Report and Financial Statements under IFRS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2005

Xi nhua Fi nance Annual Repor t  2005

105

25. BANK LOANS

THE GROUP

2005 2004

US$’000 US$’000

The bank loans are repayable as follows:

Within one year 21,341 40

Between one to two years 16 32

Between two to five years – 16

21,357 88

Less: Amount due within one year shown under current liabilities 21,341 40

Amount due after one year 16 48

The fair value of the bank loans approximates their carrying value.

The bank loans carry interest at rates ranging from 4.8% to 8.5% (2004: 4.0% to 8.5%) per annum.

Included in the bank loans is US$57,000 (2004: US$88,000) which is denominated in Korean Won and carries fixed-rate interest. The

remaining balance, which is denominated in US$, carries variable-rate interest and is repriced every three months.

Bank loans of US$21,300,000 (2004: US$Nil) have been secured by a pledge of the entire issued share capital of a subsidiary. At December

31, 2005, the carrying value of the net assets of the subsidiary amounted to US$9,851,000.

26. ADVANCE FROM A SHAREHOLDER
The advance is unsecured, interest-free and is not repayable within one year.

The fair value of the advance from a shareholder approximate to its carrying value.

27. SHARE CAPITAL

Number of shares

Ordinary Preferred
shares shares Amount

HK$’000

Authorised:

Shares of HK$0.01 each

– on incorporation 550,000,000 450,000,000 10,000

– increase in authorised share capital 4,000,000,000 – 40,000

Effect on consolidation of every

2,000 shares of HK$0.01 each

into 1 share of HK$20 each (4,547,725,000) (449,775,000) –

Conversion of preferred shares to ordinary shares 79,472 (79,472) –

At December 31, 2004 and December 31, 2005 2,354,472 145,528 50,000
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Number of shares

Series A Series B Series C
Ordinary preferred preferred preferred

shares shares shares shares Amount

HK$’000

Issued and fully paid:

Shares of HK$0.01 each

– on incorporation 1 – – – –

– issued upon a group reorganisation 63,017,993 20,860,728 62,597,944 – 1,465

– issued for acquisition of subsidiaries 92,966,886 – – – 930

– issued for acquisition of additional

interests in a subsidiary 447,300 – – – 4

– issued as compensation for directors

and staff 47,175,176 – – – 472

– issued for cash – – 8,483,325 66,106,387 746

– issued in lieu of payment – – – 894,975 9

– effect on consolidation of every

2,000 shares of HK$0.01 each into

1 share of HK$20 each (203,505,553 ) (20,850,298) (71,045,728) (66,967,861) –

Shares of HK$20 each

– conversion of preferred shares

to ordinary shares 79,472 (10,430) (35,541) (33,501) –

– issue of shares on public listing 20,000 – – – 400

– issue of shares on exercise of

over-allocation options 2,290 – – – 46

– at December 31, 2004 203,565 – – – 4,072

– issued as compensation for directors

and staff 3,074 – – – 61

– issue of shares on exercise of warrants 6,944 – – – 139

– issued for acquisition of subsidiaries 9,911 – – – 198

– issued for acquisition of additional

interests in a subsidiary 25 – – – 1

– Bonus issue 439,332 – – – 8,787

– issued for cash 152,626 – – – 3,053

– at December 31, 2005 815,477 – – – 16,311

Shown in the financial statements

– at December 31, 2005 as US$2,091,000

– at December 31, 2004 as US$522,000
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During the year, the changes in the issued capital of the Company were as follows:

(a) Ordinary shares of HK$20 each were issued for acquisition of subsidiaries and additional interests in a subsidiary.

(b) Ordinary shares of HK$20 each were issued as compensation for directors and staff at HK$20 per share.

(c) Ordinary shares of HK$20 each were issued on exercise of warrants by a warrant holder.

(d) On August 15, 2005, the Company announced a three-for-one split (the “Bonus issue”) of its shares by issue of two new shares for every

one existing share held by shareholders at September 14, 2005 credited as fully paid by way of capitalisation of share premium.

(e) On December 14, 2005, the Company entered into subscription agreements with independent third parties for the subscription of an

aggregate of 152,626 ordinary shares of HK$20 each were issued at Yen 65,520 each.

28. WARRANTS
Movements of warrants issued to consultants, advisers and other independent parties are as follows:

Number of warrants and number of underlying shares

Granted in
2004 and

outstanding Granted Exercised Effect Outstanding
Date Exercise Exercise at during during of at
of grant price Vesting period period 12.31.2004 the year the year Bonus issue 12.31.2005

7.16.2004 US$240* 7.16.2004 – 9.30.2004 10.1.2004 – 10.25.2005 6,944 – (6,944 ) – –

7.16.2004 US$264* 7.16.2004 – 9.30.2004 10.1.2004 – 9.30.2008 1,300 – – 2,600 3,900

8.12.2004 US$264* 8.12.2004 – 9.30.2004 10.1.2004 – 9.30.2008 98 – – 196 294

In December 2005, as part of the consideration for the acquisition of an available-for-sale investment is the issuance of 20,000 warrants of

the Company (the “Agreement”) at an exercise price of Yen 80,000 per warrant, exercisable after one year from the date of grant for a period

of three years. The warrants will be issued in February 2006. The estimated fair value of the warrants at the date of the Agreement is

US$169,000.

* Adjusted for Bonus issue effect as detailed in Note 27(d).

29. SHARE BASED PAYMENT ARRANGEMENT
In January 2002, Xinhua Financial Network Limited, the predecessor of the Company, adopted a share option plan which was subsequently revised

in November 2003 and was later adopted by the Company in April 2004. The plan will expire on its tenth year anniversary. The purpose of the

plan is to attract key employees to the Group and encourage them to make the Group’s business more successful. Under the plan, the

compensation committee which is appointed by the board of directors, may grant ordinary shares of the Company and/or options to subscribe for

ordinary shares of the Company to any eligible employees of the Company, including directors of the Company, consultants and advisors of the

Company. An award agreement will be signed with each recipient. Options granted are exercisable within ten years from the date of grant or as

other terms set forth in the award agreement. No consideration is payable on the grant of an option. The maximum number of shares in respect

of which options may be granted under the plan may not exceed 20% of the enlarged share capital of the Company.
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(A) SHARE OPTIONS TO DIRECTORS AND STAFF

The movements of the unexercised options granted to the directors and employees of the Company under the share option plan

during both years are as follows:

Number of options and number of underlying shares

Granted in
2004 and

outstanding Granted Effect Forfeited Outstanding
Type of Date Exercise at during of during at
option holders of grant price Vesting period Exercise period 12.31.2004 the year Bonus issue the year 12.31.2005

Directors:

Mr. Shelly Singhal 11.1.2004 (1) Nil 11.1.2004 - 11.1.2006 3 – 6 – 9

11.1.2004 – 10.31.2005 11.1.2005 - 11.1.2006 5 – 10 – 15

11.1.2004 - 10.31.2006 11.1.2006 - 12.1.2006 5 – 10 – 15

Mr. Dennis Lindsay 1.5.2004 (1) Nil 1.5.2004 - 12.31.2005 3 – 6 – 9

Pelino 1.5.2004 – 12.30.2004 12.31.2004 - 12.31.2005 5 – 10 – 15

1.5.2004 – 12.30.2005 12.31.2005 - 12.31.2005 5 – 10 – 15

Mr. Wu Ji Guang 1.5.2004 (1) Nil 1.5.2004 - 12.31.2005 3 – 6 – 9

1.5.2004 – 12.30.2004 12.31.2004 - 12.31.2005 5 – 10 – 15

1.5.2004 – 12.30.2005 12.31.2005 - 12.31.2005 5 – 10 – 15

Mr. Xue Yong Xing 1.5.2004 Nil 1.5.2004 - 12.31.2005 3 – 6 – 9

(1) 1.5.2004 – 12.30.2004 12.31.2004 - 12.31.2005 5 – 10 – 15

1.5.2004 – 12.30.2005 12.31.2005 - 12.31.2005 5 – 10 – 15

Mr. John MacLeod 1.5.2004 (1) Nil 1.5.2004 - 12.31.2005 3 – 6 – 9

Williams 1.5.2004 – 12.30.2004 12.31.2004 - 12.31.2005 5 – 10 – 15

1.5.2004 – 12.30.2005 12.31.2005 - 12.31.2005 5 – 10 – 15

Other employees 2.9.2005 Yen 2.9.2005 – 12.31.2005 1.1.2006 - 2.9.2015 – 1,720 3,439 189 4,970

49,316* 2.9.2005 – 12.31.2006 1.1.2007 - 2.9.2015 – 1,720 3,439 189 4,970

2.9.2005 – 12.31.2007 1.1.2008 - 2.9.2015 – 1,720 3,439 189 4,970

(1) The exercise price of the options is the most recent financing round valuation just before exercise of the share option. The latest most recent

financing round valuation just before the balance sheet date is Yen 65,520.

* Adjusted for Bonus issue effect as detailed in Note 27(d).

The options granted to Mr. John MacLeod Williams were registered in the name of Vavasseur Overseas Holdings Limited, a corporate

shareholder of the Company.

The weighted average of the estimated fair value at the date of grant of the options granted in 2005 is US$60.

The estimated fair value for share options granted in 2004 which were unvested as of January 1, 2005 was immaterial.
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The fair values were calculated using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. The inputs into the model were as follows:

2005 2004

Weighted average share price Yen 77,333* Yen 15,388*

Weighted average exercise price Yen 49,316* Yen 35,906*

Expected volatility 25% 25%

Expected life 8-10 1

Risk free rate 1.36% 1%

Expected volatility was determined by calculating the historical volatility of the Company’s share price.

The Group recognised total expenses of US$223,000 (2004: US$Nil) related to the options granted during the year.

* Adjusted for Bonus issue effect as detailed in Note 27(d).

(B) SHARES TO DIRECTORS AND STAFF

The movements of shares granted, issued and issuable to employees (including directors) during the year is as follows:

Number of shares

2005 2004

At January 1 3,063 9,449

Granted during the year 21,686 17,202

Issued during the year (3,949) (23,588)

Shares issuable at December 31 20,800 3,063

The movements of shares granted, issued and issuable to directors during the year are as follows:

Number of shares

2005 2004

At January 1 – 6,950

Granted during the year 17,663 11,950

Issued during the year (875) (18,900)

Shares issuable at December 31 16,788 –

The vesting period of the shares issuable range between one to five years at a subscription price of HK$20 each.

The estimated fair value at the dates of the grant of the shares granted in 2005 is US$14,293,000. The Company capitalised an

amount equivalent to the aggregate fair value of US$1,588,000 shares to directors as investment cost in subsidiaries issued for their

advisory services in relation to acquisition of subsidiaries.

The Company charged an amount equivalent to the aggregate fair value of US$10,284,000 and US$2,421,000 shares issued and

issuable to certain directors and employees respectively to share premium account as they acted as selling agents during the fund

raising exercise.
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The estimated fair value at the date of the grant of the shares which were unvested as of January 1, 2005 was immaterial.

In addition, the Company capitalised approximately US$4,527,000 as investment costs in subsidiaries relating to equity-settled share-

based payment to a shareholder for consultancy services provided for acquisition of subsidiaries.

The fair values of the shares granted were calculated with reference to the Company’s share price at the date of the grant.

30. BUSINESS ACQUISITIONS
In 2005:

In May, the Group acquired 60% of the equity interest in EconWorld Media Limited for an initial cash consideration of US$1,734,000.

Pursuant to certain contingent consideration provision, the Group made further provision of US$2,820,000 payable in cash.

In June, the Group acquired the entire issued share capital of Taylor Rafferty Associates, Inc. (“Taylor Rafferty”) for a cash consideration of

US$6,304,000 and the issue of 6,023 ordinary shares of HK$20, each with a fair value of US$15,673,000, of which only 5,093 ordinary shares

have been issued. Pursuant to certain contingent consideration provision, the Group made further provision of US$17,843,000 comprising

US$6,733,000 payable in cash and ordinary shares of HK$20, each with a fair value of US$11,110,000.

Also in June, the Group acquired 60% of the equity interest in Shanghai Pobo Data and Information Network Consulting Co. Limited for a

cash consideration of US$135,000. Pursuant to certain contingent consideration provision, the Group made further provision of US$607,000

payable in cash.

In July, the Group acquired the entire issued share capital of Washington Analysis Corporation (“Washington Analysis”) for a cash

consideration of US$2,867,000 and the issue of 1,610 ordinary shares of HK$20, each with a fair value of US$4,046,000, of which only 990

ordinary shares have been issued. Pursuant to certain contingent consideration provision, the Group made further provision of US$14,522,000

comprising US$6,915,000 payable in cash and ordinary shares of HK$20, each with a fair value of US$7,607,000.

In September, the Group acquired the entire issued share capital of Beijing Century Media Culture Co., Limited (“Century Media”) for a cash

consideration of US$56,000 and the issue of 3,828 ordinary shares of HK$20, each with a fair value of US$3,298,000. Pursuant to certain

contingent consideration provision, the Group made further provision of US$11,894,000 payable in ordinary shares of HK$20 each.

In November, the Group acquired 50% of the equity interest in Shanghai Far East Credit Rating Co., Limited for a cash consideration of

US$6,911,000.

In 2004:

In March, the Group acquired the entire issued share capital of Market News International Inc. (“MNI”) for a cash consideration of

US$11,680,000 and the issue of 12,500,030 ordinary shares of HK$0.01, each with a fair value of US$4,500,000 of the Company.

In June, the Group acquired the entire issued share capital of Mergent Inc. (“Mergent”) for a cash consideration of US$14,642,000, notes

payable of US$12,000,000 and the issue of 57,312,577 ordinary shares of HK$0.01, each with a fair value of US$31,235,000 of the Company.

Subject to certain contingent settlement provision, the consideration is subsequently amended and a further cash consideration of

US$18,788,000 is payable.

Also, in June, the Group acquired the entire issued share capital of Stone & McCarthy Research Associates, Inc., for a cash consideration of

US$6,502,000 and the issue of 4,777,070 ordinary shares of HK$0.01, each with a fair value of HK$2,604,000.

In addition, in June, the Group acquired the entire issued share capital of G7 Group Inc., for a cash consideration of US$8,811,000 and the

issue of 12,182,251 ordinary shares of HK$0.01, each with a fair value of US$6,639,000.
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In August, the Group acquired certain assets and assumed certain liabilities of Historical Securities Data and HSD Services, a unit of Capco

Reference Data Services, for a cash consideration of US$3,042,000 and notes payable of US$683,000.

Also, in August, the Group acquired the entire issued share capital of Ford Investor Services, Inc. for a cash consideration of US$1,540,000

and notes payable of US$2,150,000.

The net assets acquired at the date of acquisition were as follows:

(a) Acquisition of certain subsidiaries in 2005:

Washington Taylor Century
Analysis Rafferty Media

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Property, plant and equipment – 503 217

Deferred taxation – 261 –

Trade and other receivables 1,686 2,617 1,058

Bank balances and cash 377 1,106 427

Trade and other payables (1,285) (4,734 ) (1,231)

Taxation payable – (350 ) –

Other long-term payables – (442 ) –

Net assets (liabilities) 778 (1,039 ) 471

Goodwill 20,657 40,859 14,777

21,435 39,820 15,248

The net book values of the net assets of the above subsidiaries at the respective dates of acquisitions approximate to its fair value

and, accordingly, no fair value adjustments were required.
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(b) Acquisition of other subsidiaries:

2005 2004

US$’000 US$’000

Net assets acquired:

Property, plant and equipment 245 192

Payment deposits for acquisition of property,

plant and equipment 2,674 –

Intangible assets – 1,161

Investment in an associate 223 –

Investment securities 1,677 –

Deferred taxation – 285

Trade and other receivables 349 1,438

Bank balances and cash 4,946 3,436

Trade and other payables (4,985) (1,871)

Subscriptions received in advance – (1,418)

Amounts due to related companies (30) –

Amount due to a minority shareholder of

a subsidiary (397) –

Taxation payable – (691)

Net assets 4,702 2,532

Minority interests (2,356) –

Goodwill 9,861 29,439

12,207 31,971

The net book value of the net assets of other subsidiaries at the date of acquisition approximates to their fair value and, accordingly,

no fair value adjustment was required.



Report and Financial Statements under IFRS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2005

Xi nhua Fi nance Annual Repor t  2005

113

(c) Acquisition of MNI in 2004:

US$’000

Net assets acquired:

Property, plant and equipment 590

Deferred taxation 17

Trade and other receivables 2,515

Bank balances and cash 1,276

Trade and other payables (2,959)

Subscriptions received in advance (216)

Obligations under finance leases (53 )

Taxation payable (32 )

Bank loans (300)

Net assets 838

Goodwill 15,342

16,180

The net book value of the net assets of MNI at the date of acquisition approximates to their fair value and, accordingly, no fair value

adjustments was required.

(d) Acquisition of Mergent in 2004:

Fair
Book value Fair
value adjustments value

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Net assets acquired:

Property, plant and equipment 2,190 – 2,190

Intangible assets 12,623 – 12,623

Goodwill 8,072 (8,072 ) –

Trade and other receivables 2,881 (69 ) 2,813

Bank balances and cash 790 – 790

Trade and other payables (5,950) (107 ) (6,057)

Subscriptions received in advance (9,759) – (9,759)

Note payable (344) – (344)

Net assets 10,503 (8,248 ) 2,256

Goodwill 74,409

76,665
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2005 2004

US$’000 US$’000

The above acquisitions were satisfied by

– cash 18,007 58,515

– consideration payable 17,075 21,323

– shares 19,189 42,374

– shares to be issued 34,439 2,604

88,710 124,816

Net cash outflow arising on acquisition

– cash consideration paid (18,007) (58,515 )

– consideration paid for previous year acquisitions (19,138) –

– bank balances and cash acquired 6,856 5,502

– transferred from deposit paid 121 –

(30,168) (53,013 )

The goodwill is attributable to the anticipated profitability arising from the distribution of the Group’s products in the new markets

and the future operating synergies from the combination.

These newly acquired subsidiaries contributed a net profit of US$2,861,000 (2004: net loss of US$972,000) for the period between

the date of acquisition and the balance sheet date.

PRO FORMA GROUP’S REVENUE AND RESULTS

If the acquisitions had been completed on the first day of the year based on the unaudited management accounts for the whole year of the

subsidiaries, the Group’s revenue for the year would have been US$120,702,000 (2004: US$81,922,000) and the Group’s profit for the year

attributable to equity holders of the Company would have been US$10,774,000 (2004: US$63,000). These pro forma information are

presented for illustrative purposes only and is not necessarily an indication of revenue and of operations of the Group that actually would

have been achieved had the acquisition been completed on January 1, 2005 (2004: January 1, 2004), nor is it intended to be a projection of

future results.
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31. MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS
THE GROUP

In 2005,

(a) the Group issued 9,911 ordinary shares of HK$20 each with a fair value of US$19,189,000 for acquisition of three subsidiaries;

(b) the Group issued 25 ordinary shares of HK$20 each with a fair value of US$72,000 as additional consideration for a subsidiary;

(c) the Group entered into finance leases in respect of property, plant and equipment with total capital value of US$31,000 at the inception

of the lease;

(d) the Group acquired an available-for-sale investment in exchange for certain investment held for trading with a fair value of

US$21,788,000 and in addition, the issue of 2,000 ordinary shares of HK$20 each and the issue of 20,000 warrants of the Company with

an aggregate fair value of US$1,338,000; and

(e) the Group received investments held for trading of US$11,531,000 for services performed.

In 2004,

(a) the Group issued 81,994,858 ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each with a fair value of US$42,374,000 for acquisition of three subsidiaries;

(b) the Group issued 447,300 ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each with a fair value of US$308,000 to acquire additional interests in a subsidiary;

(c) the Group issued 10,972,028 ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each with a fair value of US$3,604,000 for the acquisition of two subsidiaries in

2003;

(d) the Group entered into finance leases in respect of property, plant and equipment with total capital value of US$17,000 at the inception

of the leases;

(e) the Group issued 894,975 ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each with a fair value of US$653,000 to satisfy a debt on behalf of a third party.

The amount is dealt with as trade and other receivables; and

(f) the Group received investments held for trading of US$6,052,000 for services performed.
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THE COMPANY

In 2005,

(a) the Company issued 9,911 ordinary shares of HK$20 each with a fair value of US$19,188,000 for acquisition of three subsidiaries;

(b) the Company issued 25 ordinary shares of HK$20 each with a fair value of US$72,000 as additional consideration for acquisition of a

subsidiary; and

(c) the Company acquired an available-for-sale investment on behalf of a subsidiary by the issue of 2,000 ordinary shares of HK$20 each and

the issue of 20,000 warrants of the Company with an aggregate fair value of US$1,338,000.

In 2004,

(a) the Company issued 81,994,858 ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each with a fair value of US$42,374,000 for acquisition of three subsidiaries;

(b) the Company issued 447,300 ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each with a fair value of US$308,000 to acquire additional interests in a

subsidiary;

(c) the Company issued 10,972,028 ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each with a fair value of US$3,604,000 for the acquisition of two subsidiaries

in 2003; and

(d) the Company issued 894,975 ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each with a fair value of US$653,000 to satisfy a debt on behalf of a third party.

32. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS
At the balance sheet date, the Group was committed to make the following future minimum lease payments in respect of land and buildings

rented under non-cancellable operating leases which fall due as follows:

THE GROUP

2005 2004

US$’000 US$’000

Within one year 3,894 2,954

In the second to fifth years inclusive 7,614 4,999

After fifth years 842 220

12,350 8,173

The Company has no operating lease commitments at the balance sheet date.
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33. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

THE GROUP

2005 2004

US$’000 US$’000

Capital expenditure authorised but not contracted for

in respect of investment – 6,229

In 2005, the Group entered into a sale and purchase agreement for the acquisition of an advertising agency group in the PRC, for an initial

consideration of US$29,000,000 plus certain contingent consideration provision determinable based on future results of the acquiree, payable

in cash and ordinary shares of the Company. The acquisition is completed subsequent to the financial year (Note 37).

The Company has no capital commitments at the balance sheet date.

34. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
The Company has executed corporate guarantees with respect to bank borrowings made available to a subsidiary. The amount of such facility

utilised as at December 31, 2005 amounted to US$21,300,000 (2004: US$Nil).

35. RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME
The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “Scheme”) for all qualifying employees in Hong Kong. The assets of the Scheme

are held separately from those of the Group in funds under the control of trustee. The Group contributes 5% of the relevant payroll costs to

the Scheme, which contribution is matched by employees, but subject to maximum contribution of HK$1,000 per month per employee.

The employees employed in the subsidiaries in PRC are members of the state-managed retirement benefits scheme operated by the PRC

government. The PRC subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain percentage of their payroll to the retirement benefits scheme to fund

the benefits. The only obligation of the Group with respect to the retirement benefits scheme is to make the required contributions under the

scheme.

The Group has a defined-contribution retirement plan (the “Plan”) covering the employees in the US subsidiaries who have completed at least

three months of service. The first amendment to the Plan dated September 1, 2004 provides that the former employees of certain acquired

subsidiaries would become immediately eligible to participate in the Plan and would receive prior service credit. Employees may make salary

contributions up to 15% of their salary on a pre-tax basis, subject to a maximum contribution. The Group makes matching contributions and

may make discretionary profit sharing contributions.
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36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
THE GROUP

The remuneration of directors (key management personnel) is disclosed in note 7 and note 29.

In addition to the above and the related party information disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements, the Group entered into the

following significant transactions with related parties:

2005 2004

US$’000 US$’000

System service costs to:

FTSE International Limited 128 128

Commission income from:

Brightline Capital II LLC 2,773 –

The system service costs were paid to FTSE International Limited, a minority shareholder of a subsidiary which has significant influence on

that subsidiary.

The commission income was received from Brightline Capital II LLC in which Mr. Shelly Singhal, a director of the Company, has beneficial interests.

THE COMPANY

The remuneration of directors (key management personnel) is disclosed in note 7 and note 29.

During the year, the Company entered into the following significant transactions with related parties:

1.1.2005 1.5.2004
to to

12.31.2005 12.31.2004

US$’000 US$’000

Group service fee income from subsidiaries 8,186 5,355

Interest income from subsidiaries 158 –

Group service fee expense to a subsidiary 4,796 5,279

37. POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS
In January 2006, the Group completed the acquisition of 100% equity interests in Ming Shing International Limited, which is an advertising

agency group in the PRC. As at the date of this report, management of the Group is still in the midst of determining the financial effect of

the acquisition.

In March 2006, the Group has signed an agreement to acquire 100% equity interests in Beijing Alpha Financial Engineering Co., Ltd. which is

engaged in the development of financial engineering and risk management systems in the PRC for a consideration of approximately

US$2,000,000.
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38. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries at the balance sheet date are as follows:

Attributable proportion
Place of of nominal value of issued/
incorporation/ registered capital

Name of subsidiary establishment held by the Company Principal activities
Directly Indirectly

2005 2004 2005 2004

EconWorld Media Limited Hong Kong 100% – – – Production and circulation of

magazines

G7 Group, Inc. US 100% 100% – – Production of government/

fiscal policy analysis

Market News International Inc. US 100% 100% – – Production of fixed income/

forex news analysis

Stone & McCarthy Research US 100% 100% – – Production of economic

Associates, Inc. statistics analysis

Taylor Rafferty, Associates Inc. US 100% – – – Provision of investor relations

consulting services

Washington Analysis Corporation US 100% – – – Provision of economic

political advisory services

Xinhua Financial Network Hong Kong 100% 100% – – Provision of China-specific

Limited indices, financial news

feeds, credit ratings and

investor relations services

AFX-Asia Pte. Limited Republic of – – 100% 100% Production and distribution

 Singapore of news

Beijing Century Media Culture PRC – – 100% – Provision of television

Co., Limited consulting services

China Finance Limited Taiwan – – 100% 100% Provision of financial

information services and

public relations services

Ford Investor Services, Inc. US – – 100% 100% Independent equity research

Fortune China Public Hong Kong – – 100% Provision of public relations

Relations Limited services
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Attributable proportion
Place of of nominal value of issued/
incorporation/ registered capital

Name of subsidiary establishment held by the Company Principal activities
Directly Indirectly

2005 2004 2005 2004

Market News (Service) US – – 100% 100% Production of fixed income/

International Inc. forex news analysis

Mergent Inc. US – 100% 100% – Production of database and

analysis

Mergent Japan K.K. Japan – – 100% 100% Production of database and

analysis

Mergent Pricing & Evaluation US – – 100% 100% Independent valuations of

Services Inc. US fixed income securities

Shanghai NetChina Limited PRC – – 100% 100% Provision of China

financial information and

services

SMRA International Inc. US – – 100% 100% Production of economic

statistics analysis

Xinhua Financial Network PRC – – 100% 100% Provision of financial

(Beijing) Ltd. information services and

public relations services

Xinhua Financial Network Korea – – 100% 100% Provision of financial

(Korea) Limited information services

Xinhua Financial Network PRC – – 100% 100% Provision of financial

(Shanghai) Ltd. information services and

public relations services

Xinhua Investment Group Hong Kong – – 100% 100% Provision of financial

Hong Kong Limited advisory services

Xinhua Finance Japan Limited Japan – – 100% 100% Provision of China

financial information and

services

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the opinion of the directors, principally affect the results or assets of

the Group.
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Hong Kong on November 17, 1999.
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